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CHAIRMAN''S LETTER
CHAIRMAN
CHAIRMAN’S LETTER TO THE ANNUAL REPORT
The year 2011 presented challenging business conditions. Global concerns
over the health of the economic recovery in the United States of America
grew, as well as concerns over the sovereign debt positions of Greece and
Spain. As a result, 2011 witnessed increased volatility in the world’s financial
markets. The neighboring Arab region presented its unique set of challenges
as well, as political instability spread across the southern and eastern
Mediterranean basin slowing the regional flow of commerce and tourism.
Consequently, Lebanon was adversely affected and showed slowing
economic growth. In fact, real GDP recorded a 1.5% growth in 2011, down
from 7.5% in 2010. The internal climate in Lebanon was also unsettled in
2011 due to persistent altercations and a political impasse.
Yet despite the series of setbacks, the Lebanese banking sector continued
its moderate growth, recording an approximate 8% growth in industry-wide
deposits. Banks in Lebanon remainadequately capitalized, and asset quality
metrics are satisfactory and continue to post steady improvement.
Despite the real challenges that the global and regional environments present,
MEAB achieved enviable results in the year 2011. At MEAB, we pursue growth
balanced with prudent risk management and corporate governance. While
our total assets increased in 2011 by 34% and our annual income increased
by 11%, the Board of Directors has invigorated its monitoring of the bank’s
management. In order to safeguard our stakeholders in the presence of intense
competition and informational asymmetry, we at MEAB’s Board of Directors
believe it is necessary for us to actively monitor management and to advise
on strategy identification and implementation. We have also implemented
the migration to a new banking solution that provides us with effective risk
management insight. We are en route to expand and diversify our presence in
the Lebanese market by further widening our geographical reach as we look
to achieve healthy growth in our customer base and deposits.
Finally, I would like to extend my heartfelt gratitude to our customers,
correspondents, and our team here at MEAB for their continued trust, and for
their valuable contribution towards our long-term success.
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MISSION STATEMENT
MEAB SAL is a growing financial institution with a local and regional
orientation, and a commitment to offer the best banking experience to its
customers and correspondents, as well as to create value to its shareholders
and employees.
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RISK MANAGEMENT
RISK MANAGEMENT
MEAB believes that effective risk management is of primary importance to its
overall operations, therefore risk management at MEAB ensures that:
• The bank has a robust and consistent risk management and control
framework
• Accompanying business growth and supporting Management in the
implementation of the Bank’s Strategy
• Risks and rewards are properly balanced
• The Bank is operating within set risk appetite and limits.
MEAB has a comprehensive risk management process to identify, assess,
control, monitor and report the principal risks it assumes in conducting its
activities. These include credit, liquidity, market and operational risk.
Risk management is important for the continuous profitability and solvency of
the bank and every employee is tasked with the prudent management of risks
within the parameters of his or her responsibilities.
The chart below depicts the key components of MEAB Risk Management
framework:
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CREDIT RISK MANAGEMENT
Credit risk is the potential for financial loss resulting from the failure of a
borrower or counterparty to honor its financial or contractual obligations.
At MEAB, the major sources of credit risk within the Bank stem from sovereign,
financial institutions, Corporate, Commercial and Retail exposures.
Credit risk appetites and strategies are set by the Board and are communicated
to Senior Management, which in turn formulates credit policies and procedures
and set credit limits on the amount of risk it is willing to accept for individual
counterparties and for geographical and industry concentration, and by
monitoring exposures in relation to such limits, in line with board strategies.
These policies are approved the Board and are reviewed on an annual basis.
Credit analysis is performed within the business originating function and is
reviewed independently by the Risk Management Department, which in turn
prepares a written opinion about the credit facilities to be submitted to the
respective credit committees.

LIQUIDITY RISK MANAGEMENT
Liquidity risk is the risk that bank will be unable to meet its payment obligations
when they fall due under normal and stress circumstances either because the
bank will be unable to borrow or sell assets in a timely manner.
To limit risk, Management manages assets with liquidity in mind, and
monitors future cash flows and liquidity on a daily basis. This incorporates
an assessment of expected cash flows and the availability of high grade
collateral which could be used to secure additional funding if required.
MEAB maintains a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can
be easily liquidated in the event of an unforeseen interruption of cash flow. In
addition, it maintains statutory deposits with central banks as per Lebanese
banking regulations.
ALCO oversees the management of the bank portfolio on a daily basis.
A number of measures are taken to minimize the potential risk from such
exposures, such as setting limits to our exposure with other banks and
financial institutions while continuing to favor banks that carry high ratings.

12

MARKET RISK MANAGEMENT
Market risk is defined as the potential loss in both on and off-balance sheet
positions resulting from movements in market risk factors, such as foreign
exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices. More precisely, it is the risk
that a change in market rates or prices will have a deleterious impact on the
income and economic net worth of the bank.
As detecting suspicious financial activities becomes more and more critical in
the financial market, MEAB stresses on Market Risk Management solutions
to enable the bank to better manage market and liquidity risks.
At MEAB, Policies and limits concerning market risk management are set
and monitored in order to ensure the avoidance of large, unexpected losses,
and the consequent impact on the bank safety and soundness. These limits
are monitored constantly to ensure they are maintained within established
policies and strategies approved by the board.

OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from system failure, human error,
fraud or external events. When controls fail to perform, operational risks can
cause damage to reputation, have legal or regulatory implications, or lead to
financial loss.
At MEAB, operational risk management staffs work in coordination with other
essential control framework in the bank, such as Internal Audit or Information
Security Unit to ensure business continuity.
At MEAB, the primary responsibility for the management of operational risk
resides on the business level that perform self assessments to risks and they
report incidents which will be analyzed by the risk management department
to assist in ensuring that proper controls are set up in order to mitigate
various operational risks and to ensure that risks taken are within limits and
operational risk tolerances.
At further level, operational incidents will be reported to senior management
level and the board according to the level of seriousness.

13

COMMITTEES
Senior Management Committee
Senior Audit Committee
Risk Management Committee
IT Security Committee
Credit and Follow-up Committee
Asset and Liability Committee
Compliance and Anti-money Laundering Committee
Purchasing Committee
HR Committee
Small Loans & Retail Committee
Fixed Assets Committee
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BRANCH MANAGEMENT
RESPONSIBILITIES

1. MANAGING PEOPLE
Creates a positive environment that fosters acceptance and tolerance, and in
which all employees work hard, contribute ideas and feel free to ask for help.
Makes his/her performance expectations clear, and holds others accountable
for meeting challenging work standards for production, accuracy and
completion.
Models how to build and maintain positive working relationships; creates a
strong feeling of belonging and cohesion within MEAB.
Willingly and proactively coaches others to achieve better results and upgrade
skill sets; tries multiple approaches to maximize others’ learning.
Communicates the achievements of his/her group to upper management;
vigorously supports his/her people.
Fosters an environment focused on problem-solving and truth, rather than
blaming and secrecy.
Creates strong morale and team spirit through frequent reinforcement, shared
activities and on-going communication. Creates imaginative and effective
incentives for top performance.
Redirects and corrects others behavior that runs counter to the good of the
team.

2. FUNCTIONAL / TECHNICAL KNOWLEDGE
Has comprehensive knowledge of branch operations and performance and
uses this knowledge to ensure that processes are in place to measure and
monitor operational and financial effectiveness.
Adds value by utilizing broad-based knowledge of the industry and awareness of
current and past business trends.
Knows what it takes to be successful in the industry and has thorough
knowledge of the industry’s history and growing patterns.
Relies on staff to fill-in and help with some functional knowledge; is willing
to admit that he/she doesn’t know it all and asks for help and information, as
needed.
Shares his/her functional and technical knowledge with others as a way for
them to learn and grow; doesn’t “hoard” knowledge for personal gain, or
power.
Reads widely to be in touch with trends and information useful to his/her role.
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3. DECISION-MAKING
Considers new business opportunities and how to capitalize on them.
Considers others’ input and feedback in making important decisions.
Acts quickly and decisively, when needed.
Makes day-to-day decisions to support long-term organizational goals
Assumes full responsibility for his/her decisions, even when unpopular; has
the backbone to work through negativity from others.
Takes accountability for branch performance; corrects problems without
blaming others.

4. COMMUNICATIONS
Communicates the impact of strategic change efforts in a way that makes the
vision real for everyone.
Encourages others to communicate in group settings.
Discloses important information to his/her team openly and actively:
Conducts one-on-one meetings to motivate and better understand staff
members
Creates a supportive and tolerant work environment; encourages idea
sharing.
Maintains two-way dialogue with others.
Communicates empathy and compassion for people in trouble or under
stress.
Deals with performance problems quickly and firmly; maintains the selfesteem of others.
Builds bridges, manages conflict and finds common ground to bring people
together to achieve impressive results, despite significant differences.
Accepts feedback non-defensively; seeks feedback to stay on track; views
negative feedback as information for improvement.
Listens attentively to others; takes care not to interrupt.
Communicates directly and clearly; guards against the overuse of jargon.
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5. CUSTOMER FOCUSED
Anticipates customer needs and creates services to meet those needs
Structures work processes to be customer-friendly and responsive
Strives to please the customer, but not at too high a price; doesn’t “give away
the store” too easily, and keeps business goals uppermost in mind.
Recognizes and rewards employees who provide consistently excellent
customer service.
Uses customer knowledge to coach and develop staff on how to optimize
service delivery.
Helps customer better articulate their needs; is skilled at handling unique or
complex customer requests, issues, or needs.
Sets appropriate service standards and develops mechanisms for ongoing
evaluation of service effectiveness.

6. ETHICS
Takes personal responsibility for communicating ethical standards of behavior
for all branch employees.
Takes ethical and reputational risks seriously; uses performance and
communications systems to reduce the MEAB’s vulnerability.
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INTERNAL AUDIT
According To the Institute of Internal Auditors (the IIA):
“Internal auditing is an independent, objective assurance and consulting
activity designed to add value and improve an organization’s operations. It
helps MEAB accomplish its objectives by bringing a systematic, disciplined
approach to evaluate and improve the effectiveness of risk management,
control and governance processes”.
An Internal Audit is the process of reviewing the effectiveness and efficiency
of operations; compliance with laws, regulations, policies and procedures;
achievement of operational/organizational objectives; reliability of information;
and safeguarding of assets.

The MEAB Framework of internal auditing consists of the following
categories in compliance with the IIA:
Code of Ethics: an ethical culture in the profession of internal auditing, it
provides a statement of principles and expectations rules of conduct:
• Integrity of internal auditors: establishes trust and thus provides the basis
for reliance on their judgment.
• Objectivity in gathering, evaluation and communicating information.
• Confidentiality in respecting the value and ownership of information.
• Competency in applying the knowledge, skills and experience needed in
the performance of internal auditing services.

International Standards for the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing:
Basic principles that represent the practice of internal auditing consist of
• Attribute Standards: Characteristics of internal audit staff performing
internal audit activities (purpose, authority, responsibility, independence
and objectivity)
• Performance Standards: describe internal Audit Activities and provide
quality criteria for evaluating audit performance.
• Implementation standards: apply to specific types of engagements
assurance
(assessment, opinion, or conclusion of the assurance
engagement) and consulting (advise, counsel and add value to bank
governance, risk management and control processes)
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Internal Audit Charter:
Reviewed annually by The Chief Audit executive

Audit policies and Procedures:
Reviewed periodically and approved by the Audit Committee of Board of
Directors.

Audit plan:
Implement an annual audit plan using appropriate risk based methodology,
approved by the Audit Committee to determine the priorities of the internal
audit activity in rank with the objectives of risk based Internal Audit (RBIA)
approach and the:
• Basic circular No 77 to Banks (Decision No. 7737) issued by the central
Bank of Lebanon (BDL)
• Circular No 271 to banks issued by the Banking Control Commission of
Lebanon on 21/09/2011

Internal Audit Department and According to Circular No 271 to banks
issued by the Banking Control Commission of Lebanon on 21/09/2011:
• Prepare a periodic and detailed reports (contain the following items:
criteria, cause, effect and recommendations) regarding the audit results, and
submit them to the Senior Management Executive after a deep discussion
(draft report) with the concerned persons in the units.
• Submit a quarterly report to Audit Committee:
To follow up work undertakes concerning the Weaknesses (report significant
issues) in audit reports findings and to ensure adequate response to audit
recommendations.
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AML - COMPLIANCE
COMPLIANCE AND CORRESPONDENT BANKING POLICY
AND PROCEDURES AT MEAB
Since its establishment, MEAB has assured adherence to all the rules and
regulations issued by our Lebanese regulatory who comply with the provisions
of the United States patriot act.
We at MEAB strictly comply with the central bank’s circulars and laws
concerning money laundry and any terrorist financing activities which was
regulated by circular #83 and law #318 both issued since 2001 and followed
later by several memos and circulars which we strictly comply with.
Proper application of above circulars is reviewed periodically by our external
auditors, and reported by them to the central bank of lebanon regulators
represented by(special investigation committee and banking control
commission known as SIC and BCCL consequently).
From the beginning, a compliance officer has been appointed for making
sure that the policies are strictly applied throughout the bank. He coordinates
and supervises officers at each branch who report directly to him. These
employees have been well trained to execute the policies. They attend inhouse and out-house workshops and seminars to keep them updated with
any new issues.

Before opening any account for a potential client, the following processes
are taken into consideration:
1. Based on the submitted documents by the client and before opening any
account, we ascertain his/her identity, the beneficiary right owner identity,
and the activities.
2. Blacklisted persons are never accepted as clients.
3. Executing banking operations is denied to non-clients.
4. For each outgoing/incoming transfer, verification of the source of funds
and their destination must be presented through reliable documents.
5. In case of any suspicious transaction, a report is sent to the special
investigation commission (SIC) at the central bank.
6. A trace of funds transferred for at least five years is kept to facilitate any
investigation if needed.
7. A risk-based approach is applied to classify the borrowers and operations
according to risk rate. Special precautions are taken against those classified
as high-risk.
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Finally, in case of existing client got involved in any suspicion we report
directly to the regulators who will instruct about the suitable action that
should be taken.
• Any staff member can easily access the above policies.
• Employees continuously attend workshops and training sessions on the
policies and procedures of AML.
• All staff members are well aware of the bank secrecy law and any
investigation against suspicious clients should be acted and treated with
total confidentiality.
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PRIVATE BANKING
Private Banking at MEAB aims to provide portfolio management services to
institutional clients and the High Net Worth client segment.

Our team is committed to conduct all operations that deem to be appropriate
and in line with asset management vis a vis client’s risk profile and investment
objectives in terms of risk, return, liquidity and maturity.

MEAB Private Banking department is governed by the regulations imposed
by the Lebanese Central Bank, that stress the importance of KYC rules and
their application on both the marketing and sale of investment products
and services. Our objectives are strictly targeted to meet and abide by all
international laws and regulations notably those related to AML and financing
terrorism.

MEAB Private Banking coordinates and assesses the client›s position
and objectives to achieve an optimum customized investment portfolio
compatible with our client’s needs. The principal consideration is not shortterm profitability but building an invincible long-term relationship based on
mutual trust.

Each MEAB Private Banker involved in the sale of investment products goes
through a process of accreditation. The Private Banker’s training is geared
towards professional certification as required by the Central bank, so that
only qualified Private Bankers are permitted to sell investment products.

Our team of Private Bankers collectively fulfills its role in meeting the banking
and financial needs of all individuals and institutions. They are readily
available to introduce clients to other Professional Specialists within our
Bank, whenever their needs arise.

We remain loyal to our clients and committed to the highest degree of
professional excellence in financial service.
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TREASURY &
FINANCIAL MARKETS
The bank has developed its Treasury and Financial Markets division to
offer quality services to its customers and enhance the development and
expansion of the financial and capital markets activities.
MEAB offers a wide range of global financial services in treasury and cash
management, foreign exchange and capital markets.
2011 was a very successful year for MEAB’s Treasury.
We maintain a determining role in the funding strategy of the bank through
competent balance sheet management and capability in sustaining a
comfortable funding base of liquidity.
The Treasury was instrumental in the significant expansion of MEAB’s lending
activities in 2011 achieved against the background of uncertain financial
markets and a slow and unstable global economic recovery.
Also the Treasury plays a vital role in helping key institutions in the Lebanese
market with their funding requirements in the local currency.
Hence MEAB’s Treasury is poised to continue providing a high standard of
services to its constantly growing customer base in the years to come.
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CORRESPONDENT BANKING
The correspondent banking unit at MEAB is in regular interaction with the
different correspondent banks and financial institutions at the arm’s length
basis with loyalty and transparency.
Having established very good relationships with our correspondent banks
that have a wide network spread over different countries and regions, MEAB’s
Correspondent Banking unit succeeded in creating a solid and reliable base
which allows it to cater to different corporate and private clients needs.

CORRESPONDENT BANKING RELATIONS
Before establishing any relation with foreign banks, a check list is reviewed
by our compliance officer, who investigates the bank status; at the same time
we request the bank to provide us by supported documents including the
following:
A list of the shareholders and the board of directors, the physical address
of the bank, certificate of registration, and the license, in addition to AML
questionnaire that should be filled by them and checked by us to be sure that
the information matches with our sources.
After that the file is raised to the concerned committee for final approval. No
relationship is established with sanctioned banks, sanctioned countries or
clients.
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HUMAN RESOURCES
During the year 2011, Human Resources continues to develop its role as a Strategic Partner in the Business.
This is done through adopting and implementing the best practices that meet efficiency and effectiveness at
the same time.
Our strong belief in our most precious resource, that is our Human, keeps us at ongoing work to meet the
staff expectations. Renewal of policies and procedures is being conducted to fit the new issues of Human
Resources.
Within the year 2011, we have achieved several issues and successes that meet our Strategy:
• Professional core skills, such as professional certifications in service lines, knowledge in banking practices
and procedures, strong values and ethical behavior, ability to work in a team environment, proactive
people and analytical reasoning, integrity ,loyalty and professionalism, in addition to a good educational
background, remain key issues in recruiting new bank’s personnel. MEAB recorded a 10% increase in
hiring new staff most of whom are fresh university graduates holding at least a bachelor degree from an
accredited university.
• Great effort has been exerted from the team to open new branches as an interpretation to the board’s
strategy of expansion.
• The team undergoes a training program to adapt to the new core system which expects to facilitate the
work and raise the level of our service. In continuing its policy of investing in its human resources, the bank
has focused on internal and external training programs that meet the Business needs such as Anti-Money
laundering, ICAAP, International Financial Reporting Standards, and Basel II and III Requirements.
• Aiming at enhancing the level of competency and matching candidates with the right jobs while maintaining
high efficiency in the utilization of resources, MEAB has placed a major focus on structuring the career
planning along with supporting and encouraging continuous education.
• Compensation Strategy that aligns with Business objectives has been designed in which all MEAB
members are being evaluated on transparent basis. Compensation performance related plan is being
applied as an important tool of career development and progress. Thus setting up a career path for qualified
personnel to prepare our Human Resources for strategic positions and enhancing their performance to
meet customer needs.
In 2011 MEAB was able to hold same level of trade finance business in respect to amounts and volume of
transactions, despite the challenges faced in the MENA region.
The trade finance business remains an attractive business for banks reflecting a transparent image of the
institution, dealing in clean and original certified documents, giving proof of good traceability and transparency.
The mastering in this business and the good practice is a privilege to any institution wishing to reflect a clean
image in the sector.
For MEAB, the good correspondents relationship remains the key to open up to the whole world creating easy
links between exporters and importers, giving a wide range of trade finance services.
The challenge is to keep studying the frame of work and manage all risks related to these operations protecting
the bank from money laundry operations hidden under the umbrella of trade finance while under- or overvaluing invoices in order to disguise the movement of money, and always respect and follow compliance
measures set by the central bank, regulatory authorities and international directives in this respect, maintaining
a full cooperation with them.
The ICC Uniform Customs and Practice for documentary credits 2007 revision (UCP 600) and the new
Incoterms rules 2010 and the ISBP 681 remains the guideline in MEAB for treating such operations and
forming a good professional team.
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IT DEPARTMENT
In 2011, MEAB is continuing in investing in Information Systems and
Technologies in order to achieve product differentiation, competitive
advantage and institutional growth.
In fact, MEAB has been proactively using the state-of-the-art technologies in
order to introduce innovative products and services thus enriching its vision
of offering and enhancing its customers’ services.
The latest technologies that are being used aim to enhance and enrich the
bank’s delivery channels and its products, to innovate in cards technologies,
enhance risk management and systems security according to national
and international compliance standards and regulations, and to continue
developing business intelligence.
MEAB introduced the online banking service that offers a wide array of
services which are continuously expanded and enhanced and offered a realtime alerting system based on delivering SMS to customers’ mobile phones
to instantly inform them about movements on their accounts and cards.
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TRADE FINANCE
In 2011 MEAB was able to hold same level of trade finance business in
respect to amounts and volume of transactions, despite the challenges faced
in the MENA region.
The trade finance business remains an attractive business for banks reflecting
a transparent image of the institution, dealing in clean and original certified
documents, giving proof of good traceability and transparency.
The mastering in this business and the good practice is a privilege to any
institution wishing to reflect a clean image in the sector.
For MEAB, the good correspondents relationship remains the key to open
up to the whole world creating easy links between exporters and importers,
giving a wide range of trade finance services.
The challenge is to keep studying the frame of work and manage all
risks related to these operations protecting the bank from money laundry
operations hidden under the umbrella of trade finance while under- or overvaluing invoices in order to disguise the movement of money, and always
respect and follow compliance measures set by the central bank, regulatory
authorities and international directives in this respect, maintaining a full
cooperation with them.
The ICC Uniform Customs and Practice for documentary credits 2007
revision (UCP 600) and the new Incoterms rules 2010 and the ISBP 681
remains the guideline in MEAB for treating such operations and forming a
good professional team.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
& EXTERNAL AUDITORS'
AUDITORS'
REPORT
MEAB S.A.L.
Auditors' report and financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2011
Independent auditors' report
Balance sheet
Statement of comprehensive income
Statement of changes in equity
Statement of cash flows
Notes to the financial statements
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INDEPENDENT
AUDITORS'' REPORT
AUDITORS

Independent Auditors' Report
To the Shareholders of MEAB s.a.l
Report on the financial statements
We have the accompanying financial statements of MEAB SAL ('the bank')which comprise the balance sheet as of 31
December 2011 and the statements of comprehensive income, changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended,
and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.

Management responsibility for the financial statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS), and for such internal control as management determines is necesary
to enable the preparation of financial statements are free from material misstatement.

Auditor's responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in
accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material
misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial
statements. the procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgments, including the assesment of the risks of material
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessment, the auditor
considers internal control relevant to the entity›s preparation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not the purpose of expressing an opinion of the effectiveness of the entity
internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness
of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating to overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the accompsnying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the
Bank as of 31 December 2011, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
International Financial Reporting Standards.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Grant Thornton

Beirut, Lebanon
20 June 2012
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BALANCE SHEET
AT 31 DECEMBER 2011

ASSETS
Cash and balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
-Fair value through profit or loss
-Available for sale
-Loans and receivables
-Held to maturity
-Amortised coast
-Fair value through other comprehensive income
Property and equipment
Other assets

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

5
6
7
8

303,916
243,164
784,755
6,408

184,318
167,280
547,263
13,706

9
9
9
9
9
9
10
11

72,963
219,699
37
31,146
2,622

4,370
162,495
54,723
75,597
29,812
2,617

1,664,710

1,242,181

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

117,101
1,414,720
6,408
1,898
2,055
220
1,385

122,225
1,021,989
13,706
1,821
1,860
574
817

1,543,787

1,162,992

82,000
10,977
27,946

41,000
26,617
11,572

120,923
1,664,710

79,189
1,242,181

Notes

Total assets

LIABILITIES
Deposits from banks and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities
Current income tax liabilities
Deffered income tax liabilities
Retirement benefit obligations

Notes
12
13
8
14
24
15

Total liabilities
Shareholders’ equity
Share capital
Other reserves
Retained earnings
Total shareholders’ equity
Total equity and liabilities

16
17

The financial statements on pages 3 to 76 were authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 June
2012 and were signed on its behalf by:
__________________
Mr. Kassem Hejeij
Chairman
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STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Interest and similar income
Interest and similar expenses
Net interest income
Net (charges) releases of impairment on loans
and advances to customers

Notes

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

18
18

71,340
(49,337)

54,075
(37,082)

22,003

16,993

(690)

3,480

21,313

20,473

7,905
(464)

6,551
(404)

7,441

6,147

23

1,456
581
(7,885)
3,114
(2,834)
(5,329)

2,512
254
(6,543)
311
(1,609)
(4,168)

24

17,857
(2,741)

17,377
(2,698)

15,116

14,679

-

(1,046)

15,116

13,633

21

Net interest income after (charges) releases of
impairment on loans and advances to customers
Fee and commission income
Fee and commisiion expense

19
19

Net fee and commission income
Net trading income
Net gains on investment securities
Personnel expenses
Other operating income
Depreciation charge
Other operating expenses
Profit before income tax
Income tax expense
Profit for the year

20
22

Other comprehensive income
Net losses on revaluation of available - for - sale
financial assets, net of tax
Total comprehensive income for the year
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

Balance at 1 January
2010
Fair value losses on
available for sale
financial assets, net of tax
Profit for the year
Total comprehensive
income
Transfers from retained
earnings
Balance at 31 December
2010
Impact of adopting IFRS
9 (note 9)
Balance at 1 January
2011
Profit of the year
Total comprehensive
income
Cash contribution to capital
increase (note 16)
Transfers for capital
increase (note 16)
Balance at 31 December
2011
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Fair
Share
Capital
LL
Million

Reserve for
Legal
unspecified General
reserve banking risks reserve
LL
LL
LL
Million
Million
Million

41,000

2,641

3,544

5,633

4,298

8,440

65,556

-

-

-

-

(1,046)
-

14,679

(1,046)
14,679

-

-

-

-

(1,046)

14,679

13,633

-

2,312

2,484

6,751

-

(11,547)

-

41,000

4,953

6,028

12,384

3,252

11,572

79,189

-

-

-

-

(3,252)

1,254

(1,998)

41,000
-

4,953
-

6,028
-

12,384
-

-

12,826
15,116

77,191
15,116

-

-

-

-

-

15,116

15,116

28,616

-

-

-

-

-

28,616

12,384

-

(4)

(12,384)

-

4

-

82,000

4,953

6,024

-

-

27,946

120,923

Fair value
reserve
LL
Million

Retained
earnings
LL
Million

Total
LL
Million

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

17,857

17,377

10,24

2,834
-

1,609
14

21
15

690
568
(354)
21,593
(41,606)

(3,480)
56
(184)
15,392
(46,566)

(70,593)
73,081
(313)
(238,182)
(5)
(5,124)
392,731
77
(2,546)

18,788
(2,319)
(243,401)
(414)
74,081
269,365
(68)
(1,764)

129,115

83,094

(4,168)

(22,990)

(4,168)

(22,990)

28,616

60,104
146,119
206,223

Notes
Cash flows from operating activities
Profit before income tax
Adjustments for non-cash items:
Depreciation charges
Loss on sale of property and equipment
Net charges (releases) of impairment on loans
and advances to customers
Net transfer to retirement benefit obligations
Deferred income taxes
Balances with the central bank
Investment securities designated at fair value
through profit or loss
Investment securities
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Other assets
Deposits from banks and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Other liabilities
Income taxes paid
Net cash generated from operating activities
Cash ﬂow from investing activities
Purchase of property and equipment

24

10

Net cash used in investing activities
Cash ﬂow from ﬁnancing activities
Cash cotributions to capital
Net cash generated from financing activities
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at the begining of the year

25

28,616
153,563
206,223

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the year

25

359,786
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NOTES TO THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

1- GENERAL INFORMATION
MEAB S.A.L. («the Bank») offers a full range of retail, private and commercial
banking activities in addition to insurance services and financial consulting to
its customers. The Bank’s operations cover all districts in Lebanon.
The Bank was incorporated in Lebanon in 1991 and registered at the
Commercial Court in Mount Lebanon under No. 58153. It appears under
number 110 in the list of Lebanese banks.
The address of its registered office is as follows: P.O. Box: 14-5958, Jnah,
Beirut – Lebanon.

2- SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial
statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied
to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1- Basis of presentation
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International
Financial Reporting Standards («IFRS») as issued by the International
Accounting Standards Board («IASB»).
The financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost
convention, except for available-for-sale financial assets (policy applicable
prior 1 January 2011), financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss
and financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income
which have been measured at fair value.
The financial statements comprise the balance sheet, the statement of
comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity, the statement of
cash flows and the notes.
The Bank classifies its expenses by the nature of expense method.
The financial statements are presented in Lebanese pounds, which is the
Bank›s functional and presentation currency. The figures shown in the
financial statements are stated in LL million.
The disclosures on risks from financial instruments are presented in the
financial risk management report contained in Note 3.
The statement of cash flows shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents
arising during the year from operating activities, investing activities and
financing activities. Cash and cash equivalents include highly liquid
investments. Note 25 shows the balance sheet captions in which cash and
cash equivalents items are included.
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires management
to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Bank›s accounting
policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the
financial statements in the period the assumptions changed.
Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate and
that the Bank›s financial statements therefore present the financial position
and results fairly. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or
complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.
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Changes in accounting policies and disclosures
(a) Standards, amendments and interpretations early adopted on 1 January 2011
The Bank opted for the early adoption of IFRS 9 ‹›Financial instruments›› on
1 January 2011 in line with the Banking Control Commission circular number
265 dated 23 September 2010. IFRS 9 was issued in November 2009 and
October 2010. It addresses the classification, measurement and recognition
of financial assets and financial liabilities. It replaces the parts of IAS 39,
‹›Financial instruments: recognition and measurement›› that relate to the
classification and measurement of financial instruments.
IFRS 9 requires financial assets to be classified into two measurement
categories:
(i) those measured at fair value, and
(ii) those measured at amortised cost
An instrument is subsequently measured at amortised cost only if it is a debt
instrument and both the objective of the Bank›s business model is to hold the
asset to collect the contractual cash flows, and the asset›s contractual cash
flows represent only payments of principal and interest (that is, it has only
«basic loan features»).
All equity instruments are to be measured subsequently at fair value. Equity
instruments that are held for trading will be measured at fair value through
profit or loss. For all other equity investments, an irrevocable election, on
an investment-by-investment basis can be made at initial recognition, to
recognise unrealised and realised fair value gains and losses through other
comprehensive income rather than profit or loss.
For financial liabilities, the standard retains most of the IAS 39 requirements.
The main change is that, in cases where the fair value option is taken for
financial liabilities, the part of a fair value change due to an entity›s own
credit risk is recorded in other comprehensive income rather than the income
statement, unless this creates an accounting mismatch.
The Bank has adopted IFRS 9 from 1 January 2011, as well as the related
consequential amendments to other IFRSs, because this new accounting
policy provides reliable and more relevant information for users to assess the
amounts, timing and uncertainty of future cash flows. In accordance with the
transitional provisions of the standard, comparative figures have not been
restated.
Debt securities were considered to meet the criteria to be classified at
amortised cost in accordance with IFRS 9, because the objective of the
Bank›s business model is to hold these debt securities in order to collect
their contractual cash flows and the contractual cash flows solely represent
payments of principal and interest on the principal outstanding. They were
therefore reclassified its debt securities from available for sale to financial
assets at amortised cost and fair value through profit or loss. As a result, the
debt securities portfolio and the fair value reserve decreased by LL 2,350
million respectively. For more details refer to note 9.
Investments in equity securities previously classified as available for sale
are now classified as financial assets designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and fair value through profit or loss. For more details
refer to note 9.
(b) Standards, amendments and interpretations effective on 1 January 2011
The following standards and amendments, which became effective in 2011,
are relevant to the Bank:
- IFRS 7, ‹Financial instruments: Disclosures›, (effective from 1 January
2011). This amendment emphasises the interaction between quantitative
and qualitative disclosures about the nature and extent of risks associated
with financial instruments. The adoption of the amendment results in
additional disclosures but does not have a significant impact on the financial
statements of the Bank.
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- IAS 1, ‹Presentation of financial statements›, (effective from 1 January
2011). This amendment clarifies that an entity will present an analysis of
other comprehensive income for each component of equity, either in the
statement of changes in equity or in the notes to the financial statements.
The adoption of the amendment results in additional disclosures but does
not have a significant impact on the financial statements of the Bank.
- IAS 24, ‹Related party disclosures› (revised 2009), is mandatory for periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2011. The revised standard amends the
definition of a related party and modifies certain related-party disclosure
requirements for government-related entities. The impact of this standard
is not expected to be significant on the Bank›s financial statements.
(c) Standards, amendments and interpretations issued but not yet effective
The following standards and amendments which are relevant to the Bank
have been issued and are effective for the accounting periods starting after
1 January 2011:
- Amendment to IAS 1, ‹Presentation of financial statements› regarding
other comprehensive income, (effective from 1 July 2012). The main
change resulting from these amendments is a requirement for Banks to
group items presented in ‹other comprehensive income› (OCI) on the basis
of whether they are potentially reclassifiable to profit or loss subsequently
(reclassification adjustments). The amendments do not address which
items are presented in OCI. The impact of this standard is not expected to
be significant on the Bank›s financial statements.
- IAS 27 (Revised 2011), ‹Separate financial statements›, (effective from 1
January 2013). The revised standard includes the provisions on separate
financial statements that are left after the control provisions of IAS 27 have
been included in IFRS 10. The impact of this standard is not expected to be
significant on the Bank›s financial statements.
- IFRS 13, ‹Fair value measurement›, (effective from 1 January 2013).
The standard aims to improve consistency and reduce complexity by
providing a precise definition of fair value and a single source of fair value
measurement and disclosure requirements for use across IFRSs. The Bank
is yet to assess IFRS 13›s full impact and intends to adopt IFRS 13 no later
than the accounting period beginning on
1 January 2013.
- Amendment to IFRS 7, ‹Financial instruments: Disclosures› on
derecognition, (effective from 1 July 2011). This amendment will promote
transparency in the reporting of transfer transactions and improve users›
understanding of the risk exposures relating to transfers of financial assets
and the effect of those risks on an entity›s financial position, particularly
those involving securitisation of financial assets.The impact of this standard
is not expected to be significant on the Bank›s financial statements.
- Amendment to IAS 12, ‹Income taxes› on deferred tax (effective 1 January
2012). IAS 12, ‹Income taxes›, currently requires an entity to measure the
deferred tax relating to an asset depending on whether the Bank expects
to recover the carrying amount of the asset through use or sale. It can be
difficult and subjective to assess whether recovery will be through use or
through sale when the asset is measured using the fair value model in IAS 40,
‹Investment property›. This amendment therefore introduces an exception
to the existing principle for the measurement of deferred tax assets or
liabilities arising on investment property measured at fair value. As a result
of the amendments, SIC 21, ‹Income taxes - recovery of revalued nondepreciable assets›, will no longer apply to investment properties carried
at fair value. The amendments also incorporate into IAS 12 the remaining
guidance previously contained in SIC 21, which is withdrawn. The impact
of this standard is not expected to be significant on the Bank›s financial
statements.
- Amendment to IAS 19, ‹Employee benefits› (effective 1 January 2013).
These amendments eliminate the corridor approach and calculate finance
costs on a net funding basis. The impact of this standard is not expected to
be significant on the Bank›s financial statements.
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2.2- Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation currency
Items included in the financial statements of the Bank are measured using the
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates
(«the functional currency»).
The financial statements are presented in Lebanese pounds, which is the
Bank›s functional and presentation currency.
(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions that are transactions denominated, or that
require settlement, in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
Monetary items denominated in foreign currency are translated with the
closing rate as at the reporting date. Non-monetary items measured at
historical cost denominated in a foreign currency are translated with the
exchange rate as at the date of initial recognition; non-monetary items in
a foreign currency that are measured at fair value are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was determined.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign
currency transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
All foreign exchange gains and losses recognised in the income statement
are presented net in the statement of comprehensive income within
the corresponding item. Foreign exchange gains and losses on other
comprehensive income items are presented in other comprehensive income
within the corresponding item.
In the case of changes in the fair value of monetary assets denominated
in foreign currency classified as available for sale, a distinction is made
between translation differences resulting from changes in amortised cost of
the security and other changes in the carrying amount of the security.
Translation differences related to changes in the amortised cost are
recognised in profit or loss, and other changes in the carrying amount, except
impairment, are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments, such as equities
held at fair value through profit or loss, are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary financial instruments,
such as equities classified at fair value through other comprehensive income,
are included in the fair value reserve in equity.

2.3- Financial assets and liabilities
In accordance with IAS 39, all financial assets and liabilities – which include
derivative financial instruments – have to be recognised in the balance sheet
and measured in accordance with their assigned category.

2.3.1- Prior to 1 January 2011
2.3.1.1- Classiﬁcation of ﬁnancial assets prior to 1 January 2011
The Bank allocates financial assets to the following IAS 39 categories:
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss; loans and receivables;
held-to-maturity investments; and available for sale financial assets.
Management determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial
recognition.
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(a) Financial assets at fair value through proﬁt or loss
This category has two sub-categories: financial assets held for trading and
financial assets designated by the Bank as at fair value through profit or loss
upon initial recognition.
A financial asset is classified as held for trading if it is acquired or incurred
principally for the purpose of selling or repurchasing in the near term or if
it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that are managed
together and for which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of shortterm profit-taking. Derivatives are also categorised as held for trading unless
they are designated as hedging instruments.
Financial assets held for trading consist of debt instruments, including moneymarket paper, traded corporate and bank loans, and equity instruments, as
well as financial assets with embedded derivatives. They are recognised in
the balance sheet as «Financial assets held for trading».
Financial instruments included in this category are recognised initially at fair
value; transaction costs are taken directly to the statement of comprehensive
income. Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value are included
directly in the statement of comprehensive income and are reported as «Net
trading income». Interest income and expense and dividend income and
expenses on financial assets held for trading are included in «Net interest
income» or «Dividend income», respectively.
The instruments are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have
expired or the Bank has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of
ownership and the transfer qualifies for derecognising.
The Bank designates certain financial assets upon initial recognition as at
fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). This designation cannot
subsequently be changed. According to IAS 39, the fair value option is only
applied when the following conditions are met:
• the application of the fair value option reduces or eliminates an accounting
mismatch that would otherwise arise; or
• the financial assets are part of a portfolio of financial instruments which is
risk managed and reported to senior management on a fair value basis; or
• the financial assets consists of debt host and an embedded derivative
that must be separated.
Financial assets for which the fair value option is applied are recognised in
the balance sheet as «Financial assets designated at fair value».
Fair value changes relating to financial assets designated at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised in «Net gain (loss) on financial instruments
designated at fair value through profit or loss».
(b) Loans and receivables
Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or
determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market, other than:
(i) those that the Bank intends to sell immediately or in the short term,
which are classified as held for trading, and those that the entity upon initial
recognition designates as fair value through profit or loss;
(ii) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as available for
sale; or
(iii) those for which the holder may not recover substantially all of its initial
investment, other than because of credit deterioration.
Loans and receivables are initially recognised at fair value, which is the cash
consideration to originate or purchase the loan including any transaction
costs, and measured subsequently at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method. Loans and receivables are reported in the balance sheet
as loans and advances to banks or customers or as investment securities.
Interest on loans is included in the statement of comprehensive income and
is reported as «Interest and similar income». In the case of an impairment,
the impairment loss is reported as a deduction from the carrying value of the
loan and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income as «Loan
impairment charges».
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(c) Held-to-maturity ﬁnancial assets
Held-to-maturity investments are non-derivative financial assets with fixed
or determinable payments and fixed maturities that the Bank›s management
has the positive intention and ability to hold to maturity, other than:
(i) those that the Bank upon initial recognition designates as at fair value
through profit or loss;
(ii) those that the Bank designates as available for sale; and
(iii) those that meet the definition of loans and receivables.
These are initially recognised at fair value including direct and incremental
transaction costs and measured subsequently at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
Interest on held-to-maturity investments is included in the statement of
comprehensive income and reported as «Interest and similar income». In the
case of an impairment, the impairment loss is been reported as a deduction
from the carrying value of the investment and recognised in the profit and
loss statement as «Net gains/(losses) on investment securities». Held-tomaturity investments comprise treasury bills, and debt securities issued by
commercial banks and Central Bank of Lebanon.
(d) Available-for-sale ﬁnancial assets
Available-for-sale investments are financial assets that are intended to be
held for an indefinite period of time, which may be sold in response to needs
for liquidity or changes in interest rates, exchange rates or equity prices or
that are not classified as loans and receivables, held to maturity investments
or financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.
Available-for-sale financial assets are initially recognised at fair value, which
is the cash consideration including any transaction costs, and measured
subsequently at fair value with gains and losses being recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income, except for impairment losses and foreign
exchange gains and losses, until the financial asset is derecognised. If an
available-for-sale financial asset is determined to be impaired, the cumulative
gain or loss previously recognised in the statement of comprehensive income
is recognised in the income statement.
However, interest is calculated using the effective interest method, and
foreign currency gains and losses on monetary assets classified as availablefor-sale are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends
on available-for-sale equity instruments are recognised in the statement of
comprehensive income in «Dividend income» when the Bank's right to receive
payment is established.
2.3.1.2- Recognition
The Bank uses trade date accounting for regular way contracts when
recording financial asset transactions. Financial assets that are transferred to
a third party but do not qualify for derecognition are presented in the balance
sheet as «Assets pledged as collateral», if the transferee has the right to sell
or repledge them.
2.3.1.3- Derecognition
Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to receive the
cash flows from these assets have ceased to exist or the assets have been
transferred and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the
assets are also transferred (that is, if substantially all the risks and rewards
have not been transferred, the Bank tests control to ensure that continuing
involvement on the basis of any retained powers of control does not prevent
derecognition). Financial liabilities are derecognised when they have been
redeemed or otherwise extinguished.
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2.3.1.4- Reclassiﬁcation of ﬁnancial assets
The Bank may choose to reclassify a non-derivative financial asset held for
trading out of the held-for-trading category if the financial asset is no longer
held for the purpose of selling it in the near-term. Financial assets other than
loans and receivables are permitted to be reclassified out of the held for
trading category only in rare circumstances arising from a single event that is
unusual and highly unlikely to recur in the near-term.
In addition, the Bank may choose to reclassify financial assets that would
meet the definition of loans and receivables out of the held-for-trading
or available for sale categories if the Bank has the intention and ability to
hold these financial assets for the foreseeable future or until maturity at the
date of reclassification. Reclassifications are made at fair value as of the
reclassification date. Fair value becomes the new cost or amortised cost as
applicable, and no reversals of fair value gains or losses recorded before
reclassification date are subsequently made. Effective interest rates for
financial assets reclassified to loans and receivables and held-to-maturity
categories are determined at the reclassification date.
Further increases in estimates of cash flows adjust effective interest rates
prospectively.
2.3.1.5- Classes of ﬁnancial instruments
The Bank classifies the financial instruments into classes that reflect the
nature of information and take into account the characteristics of those
financial instruments. The classification made can be seen in the table below:
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2.3.2- After 1 January 2011
2.3.2.1 Classiﬁcation of ﬁnancial assets after 1 January 2011
As from 1 January 2011, the Bank classifies its financial assets as measured
at fair value or at amortised cost.

Debt instruments
(a) Financial assets at amortised cost
A debt instrument is classified as ‹amortised cost› only if both of the following
criteria are met: the objective of the Bank›s business model is to hold the
asset to collect the contractual cash flows; and the contractual terms give
rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal outstanding.
The nature of any derivatives embedded in the debt instrument are considered
in determining whether the cash flows of the investment are solely payment
of principal and interest on the principal outstanding and are not accounted
for separately.
(b) Financial assets at fair value
If either of the two criteria above are not met, the debt instrument is classified
as at «fair value through profit or loss».

Equity instruments
For investments in equity instruments that are not held for trading, the
Bank may elect at initial recognition to present gains and losses in other
comprehensive income. For instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, gains and losses are never reclassified to profit or
loss and no impairments are recognised in profit or loss.
2.3.2.2 Recognition, measurement, derecognition and reclassiﬁcation
Regular purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the tradedate – the date on which the Bank commits to purchase or sell the asset.
Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from
the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Bank has
transferred substantially all risks and rewards of ownership.
At initial recognition, the Bank measures a financial asset at its fair value
plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the financial
asset. Transaction costs of financial assets carried at fair value though profit
or loss are expensed in the income statement.
A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at fair
value and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit or loss
and presented in the income statement within «other (losses)/gains – net» in
the period in which they arise.
A gain or loss on a debt instrument that is subsequently measured at
amortised cost and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in profit
or loss when the financial asset is derecognised or impaired and through the
amortisation process using the effective interest rate method.
The Bank subsequently measures all equity investments at fair value. Where
the Bank›s management has elected to present unrealised and realised fair
value gains and losses on equity instruments in other comprehensive income,
there is no subsequent recycling of fair value gains and losses to profit or
loss. Dividends from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or
loss as long as they represent a return on investment.
The Bank is required to reclassify all affected debt investments when and
only when its business model for managing those assets changes.
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The classification in accordance with IFRS 9 can be seen in the table below:

2.3.3- Financial liabilities
The Bank holds financial liabilities at amortised cost. Financial liabilities
measured at amortised cost are deposits from banks or customers. Financial
liabilities are derecognised when they have been redeemed or otherwise
extinguished.

2.4- Determination of fair value
For financial instruments traded in active markets, the determination of fair
values of financial assets and financial liabilities is based on quoted market
prices or dealer price quotations.
A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted
prices are readily and regularly available from an exchange, dealer, broker,
industry group, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm's
length basis.
If the above criteria are not met, the market is regarded as being inactive.
Indications that a market is inactive are when there is a wide bid-offer
spread or significant increase in the bid-offer spread or there are few recent
transactions.
For all other financial instruments, fair value is determined using valuation
techniques. In these techniques, fair values are estimated from observable
data in respect of similar financial instruments, using models to estimate the
present value of expected future cash flows or other valuation techniques,
using inputs (for example, LIBOR yield curve, FX rates, volatilities and
counterparty spreads) existing at the dates of the balance sheet.
The Bank uses widely recognised valuation models for determining fair
values of non-standardised financial instruments of lower complexity, such
as foreign exchange, credit default swaps and unlisted Lebanese treasury
bills (denominated in Lebanese pounds).
For these financial instruments, inputs into models are generally market
observable.
In cases when the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be
determined reliably, the instruments are carried at cost less impairment.
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2.5- Offsetting ﬁnancial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount is reported in the
balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or realise the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously.
Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under
IFRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such
as in the Bank›s trading activity.

2.6- Interest income and expense
Interest income and expense for all interest-bearing financial instruments
are recognised within «interest and similar income» and «interest and similar
charges» in the statement of comprehensive income using the effective
interest method.
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost
of a financial asset or a financial liability and of allocating the interest income
or interest expense over the relevant period.
The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial
instrument or, when appropriate, a shorter period to the net carrying amount
of the financial asset or financial liability.
Once a financial asset or a group of similar financial assets has been written
down as a result of an impairment loss, interest income is recognised using
the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose of
measuring the impairment loss.

2.7- Fee and commission income
Fees and commissions are generally recognised on an accrual basis when
the service has been provided. Loan commitment fees for loans that are
likely to be drawn down are deferred (together with related direct costs) and
recognised as an adjustment to the effective interest rate on the loan.
Portfolio and other management advisory and service fees are recognised
based on the applicable service contracts, usually on a time-apportionate
basis. Asset management fees related to investment funds are recognised
rateably over the period in which the service is provided.
The same principle is applied for wealth management, and custody services
that are continuously provided over an extended period of time.

2.8- Dividend income
Dividends are recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when
the Bank›s right to receive payment is established.

2.9- Impairment of ﬁnancial assets
(a) Assets at amortised cost
The Bank assesses at each reporting date whether there is objective evidence
that a financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired.
A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired and impairment
losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a
result of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the
asset (a «loss event») and that loss event (or events) has an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of financial assets
that can be reliably estimated.
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The criteria that the Bank uses to determine that there is objective evidence
of an impairment loss include:
(i) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or obligor;
(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in interest or
principal payments;
(iii) the lender, for economic or legal reasons relating to the borrower's
financial difficulty, granting to the borrower a concession that the lender
would not otherwise consider;
(iv) it becomes probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other
financial reorganisation;
(v) the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because
of financial difficulties; or
(vi) observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in the
estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of financial assets since the
initial recognition of those assets, although the decrease cannot yet be
identified with the individual financial assets in the portfolio, including:
- adverse changes in the payment status of borrowers in the portfolio; and
- national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults on the
assets in the portfolio.
The estimated period between a loss occurring and its identification is
determined by local management for each identified portfolio. In general,
the periods used vary between three months and 12 months; in exceptional
cases, longer periods are warranted.
The Bank first assesses whether objective evidence of impairment exists
individually for financial assets that are individually significant, and individually
or collectively for financial assets that are not individually significant. If the
Bank determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for an
individually assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk characteristics
and collectively assesses them for impairment. Assets that are individually
assessed for impairment and for which an impairment loss is or continues
to be recognised are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.
The amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset›s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows
(excluding future credit losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the
financial asset›s original effective interest rate. The carrying amount of the
asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account and the amount of
the loss is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.
The calculation of the present value of the estimated future cash flows of
a collateralised financial asset reflects the cash flows that may result from
foreclosure less costs for obtaining and selling the collateral, whether or not
foreclosure is probable.
For the purposes of a collective evaluation of impairment, financial assets are
grouped on the basis of similar credit risk characteristics (i.e., on the basis of
the Bank›s grading process that considers asset type, industry, geographical
location, collateral type, past-due status and other relevant factors). Those
characteristics are relevant to the estimation of future cash flows for groups
of such assets by being indicative of the debtors› ability to pay all amounts
due according to the contractual terms of the assets being evaluated.
Future cash flows in a group of financial assets that are collectively evaluated
for impairment are estimated on the basis of the contractual cash flows of
the assets in the Bank and historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics similar to those in the Bank. Historical loss experience
is adjusted on the basis of current observable data to reflect the effects of
current conditions that did not affect the period on which the historical loss
experience is based and to remove the effects of conditions in the historical
period that do not currently exist.
Estimates of changes in future cash flows for groups of assets should
reflect and be directionally consistent with changes in related observable
data from period to period (for example, changes in unemployment rates,
property prices, payment status, or other factors indicative of changes in the
probability of losses in the Bank and their magnitude).
The methodology and assumptions used for estimating future cash flows
are reviewed regularly by the Bank to reduce any differences between loss
estimates and actual loss experience.
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When a loan is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for
loan impairment. Such loans are written off after all the necessary procedures
have been completed and the amount of the loss has been determined.
Impairment charges relating to loans and advances to banks and customers
are classified in «Loan impairment charges» whilst impairment charges
relating to investment securities (Held to maturity and loans and receivables
categories) are classified in «Net gains/(losses) on investment securities».
If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases
and the decrease can be related objectively to an event occurring after the
impairment was recognised (such as an improvement in the debtor's credit
rating), the previously recognised impairment loss is reversed by adjusting the
allowance account. The amount of the reversal is recognised in the statement
of comprehensive income.
(b) Assets classiﬁed as available-for-sale
The Bank assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective
evidence that a financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired. In
the case of equity investments classified as available for sale, a significant or
prolonged decline in the fair value of the security below its cost is considered
in determining whether the assets are impaired.
If any such evidence exists for available for sale financial assets, the cumulative
loss – measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and the
current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset previously
recognised in profit or loss – is removed from equity and recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income.
Impairment losses recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on
equity instruments are not reversed through the statement of comprehensive
income.
If, in a subsequent period, the fair value of a debt instrument classified as
available for sale increases and the increase can be objectively related to an
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss, the
impairment loss is reversed through the statement of comprehensive income.
(c) Renegotiated loans
Loans that are either subject to collective impairment assessment or
individually significant and whose terms have been renegotiated are no longer
considered to be past due but are treated as new loans. In subsequent years,
the asset is considered to be past due and disclosed only if renegotiated again.

2.10- Impairment of non-ﬁnancial assets
Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An
impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the
higher of an asset's fair value less costs to sell and value in use.
For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest
levels for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows (cash-generating
units).
The impairment test also can be performed on a single asset when the fair
value less cost to sell or the value in use can be determined reliably. Nonfinancial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for
possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. No non-financial
assets were impaired in 2011.

2.11- Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise balances with less than three months›
maturity from the date of acquisition, including cash in hand, deposits held
at call with banks and other short-term highly liquid investments with original
maturities of three months or less.
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2.12- Repossessed property
In certain circumstances, property is repossessed following the foreclosure
on loans that are in default. Repossessed properties are measured at the
lower of carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell and reported within
«Assets classified as held for sale».

2.13- Leases
Leases are accounted for in accordance with IAS 17 and IFRIC 4. They are
divided into finance leases and operating leases. The leases entered into
by the Bank, are principally operating leases. Leases in which a significant
portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by another party,
the lessor, are classified as operating leases.
Payments, including prepayments, made under operating leases (net of
any incentives received from the lessor) are charged to the statement of
comprehensive income on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
The total payments made under operating leases are charged to other
operating expenses in the statement of comprehensive income on a straightline basis over the period of the lease.
When an operating lease is terminated before the lease period has expired,
any payment required to be made to the lessor by way of penalty is recognised
as an expense in the period in which termination takes place.

2.14- Property and equipment
Buildings comprise mainly branches and offices. All property and equipment
are stated at historical cost less depreciation. Historical cost includes
expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the items.
Subsequent expenditures are included in the asset›s carrying amount or are
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Bank and
the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs
and maintenance are charged to other operating expenses during the financial
period in which they are incurred.
Depreciation of assets is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate
their cost to their residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Years
Buildings

20

Installations

4

Vehicles

8

Computer equipment

5

Equipment and furniture
Decoration

12 - 13
6-7

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at each balance sheet date. Assets are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying
amount may not be recoverable.
An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable
amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's fair value less
costs to sell and value in use. No property or equipment were impaired as at
31 December 2011 (2010 - nil).
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Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with
carrying amount and are recognised within ‹other operating income› in the
statement of comprehensive income.

2.15- Income tax
(a) Current income tax
Current income tax is calculated based on the tax laws issued at balance
sheet date relative to the country in which the Bank operates and generates
profits which are subject to tax.
Management reviews on a regular basis all tax declarations in order to be
compliant with the applicable tax laws and to recognise the appropriate
provision for taxes expected to be paid.
Income tax payable (receivable) is calculated on the basis of the applicable
tax law in the respective jurisdiction and is recognised as an expense (income)
for the period except to the extent that current tax related to items that are
charged or credited in other comprehensive income or directly to equity. In
these circumstances, current tax is charged or credit to other comprehensive
income or to equity (for example, current tax on available-for-sale investment).
Tax losses can be relieved only by carry-forward against taxable profits of
future periods, a deductible temporary difference arises. Those losses carried
forward are set-off against deferred tax liabilities carried in the balance sheet.
The Bank does not offset income tax liabilities and current income tax assets.
(b) Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method, on temporary
differences arising between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts in the financial statements.
Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted or substantially enacted by the date of the balance sheet and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realised or
the deferred income tax liability is settled.
Deferred tax related to fair value re-measurement of available-for-sale
investments, which are recognised in other comprehensive income, is also
recognised in other comprehensive income and subsequently in the income
statement together with the deferred gain or loss.

2.16- Retirement beneﬁts obligations
The Bank is subscribed to the compulsory defined benefit plan of the national
social security fund.
IAS 19 ‹Employee benefits' requirements:
A defined benefit plan is a pension plan that defines an amount of pension
benefit that an employee will receive on retirement, usually dependent on one
or more factors such as age, years of service or compensation.
The liability recognised in the balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit
plan is the present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance sheet
date less contributions to the fund.
The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
government securities that have terms to maturity approximating the terms
of the related pension liability.
Local requirements:
The compulsory defined benefit plan varies according to each employee›s
final salary and length of service, subject to the completion of a minimum
service period.
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The provision is calculated based on the difference between total indemnities
due and total monthly contributions paid to National Social Security Fund
(‹›NSSF››), End-of-Service Indemnity contributions paid to NSSF represents
8.5 percent of employee benefits.
The difference between the carrying amount of the provision and its value in
accordance with IAS 19 ‹Employee benefits› is not significant.

2.17- Provisions
Provisions for restructuring costs and legal claims are recognised when: the
Bank has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events;
it is more likely than not that an outflow of resources will be required to settle
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. The Bank does
not recognise provisions for future operating losses.
Where there is a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow
will be required in settlement is determined by considering the class of
obligations as a whole. A provision is recognised even if the likelihood of an
outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations
may be small.
Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected
to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognised
as interest expense.

2.18- Financial guarantee contracts
Financial guarantee contracts are contracts that require the issuer to make
specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payments when due, in accordance with the
terms of a debt instrument.
Such financial guarantees are given to banks, financial institutions and other
bodies on behalf of customers to secure loans, overdrafts and other banking
facilities.
Financial guarantees are initially recognised in the financial statements at
fair value on the date the guarantee was given. The fair value of a financial
guarantee at the time of signature is zero because all guarantees are agreed
on arm›s length terms and the value of the premium agreed corresponds to
the value of the guarantee obligation.
No receivable for the future premiums is recognised. Subsequent to initial
recognition, the bank's liabilities under such guarantees are measured
at the higher of the initial amount, less amortisation of fees recognised in
accordance with IAS 18, and the best estimate of the amount required to
settle the guarantee.
These estimates are determined based on experience of similar transactions
and history of past losses, supplemented by the judgement of management.
The fee income earned is recognised on a straight-line basis over the life of
the guarantee. Any increase in the liability relating to guarantees is reported
in the statement of comprehensive income within other operating expenses.

2.19- Share capital
(a) Share issue costs
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown
in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.
(b) Dividends on ordinary shares
Dividends on ordinary shares are recognised in equity in the period in which
they are approved by the Bank›s shareholders.
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Dividends for the year that are declared after the date of the balance sheet
are dealt with in the subsequent events note.
(c) Cash contributions to capital
Cash contributions to capital are classified as equity.

2.20- Comparatives
Except when a standard or an interpretation permits or requires otherwise, all
amounts are reported or disclosed with comparative information.
Where IAS 8 applies, comparative figures have been adjusted to conform
with changes in presentation in the current year.
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3- FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Bank›s business involves taking on risks in a targeted manner and
managing them professionally. The core functions of the Bank›s risk
management are to identify all key risks for the Bank, measure these risks,
manage the risk positions and determine capital allocations. The Bank
regularly reviews its risk management policies and systems to reflect changes
in markets, products and best market practice.
The Bank›s aim is to achieve an appropriate balance between risk and return
and minimise potential adverse effects on the Bank›s financial performance.
The Bank defines risk as the possibility of losses or profits foregone, which
may be caused by internal or external factors.
The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well
as written policies covering specific areas, such as foreign exchange risk,
interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and nonderivative financial instruments. The Bank's Audit committee is responsible
for monitoring compliance with the Bank's risk management policies
and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the risk management
framework in relation to the risks faced by the Bank. The Bank›s Audit
committee is assisted in these functions by the internal audit department.
The risks arising from financial instruments to which the Bank is exposed
are financial risks, which include credit risk, liquidity risk, market risk and
operational risk.

3.1- Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of suffering financial loss, should any of the Bank›s
customers, clients or market counterparties fail to fulfill their contractual
obligations to the Bank. Credit risk arises mainly from commercial and
retail loans and advances, and loan commitments arising from such lending
activities, such as financial guarantees, letters of credit, and acceptances.
The Bank is also exposed to other credit risks arising from investments in
debt securities and other exposures arising from its trading activities.
Credit risk is a major risk for the Bank›s business; management therefore
carefully manages its exposure to credit risk. The credit risk management is
centralised in the risk management department, which reports to the Board
of Directors.
3.1.1- Credit risk measurement
(a) Loans and advances
To measure the credit risk of loans and advances to customers, the Bank
rates its counterparties based on the rating model as set by the Central Bank
of Lebanon («BDL») basic circular number 58:
• Normal – the loan is expected to be repaid on a timely and consistent basis;
• Special mention – the loan is expected to be repaid but the client›s file is
not complete;
• Sub-standard – the client has a difficult financial condition and might not
be in a position to settle the loan in full;
• Doubtful – there is no movement in the clients› balance; and
• Bad – the probability of repayment is low and almost nil.
These credit risk measurements reflect the impairment allowances required
under IAS 39, which are based on losses that have been incurred at the
balance sheet date (the ‹incurred loss model›).
(b) Debt securities
External rating such as Standard & Poor›s (S&P) rating or their equivalents
are used by the Asset and Liability Committee (supported by the Treasury
department) for managing the credit risk exposures.
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3.1.2- Risk limit control and mitigation policies
The Bank manages, limits and controls concentrations of credit risk wherever they are identified – in particular,
to individual counterparties and Banks, and to industries and countries.
The Bank structures the levels of credit risk it undertakes by placing limits on the amount of risk accepted in
relation to one borrower, or groups of borrowers. Such risks are monitored on a revolving basis and subject to
an annual or more frequent review, when considered necessary. Limits on the level of credit risk by product,
industry sector and country are set by the Board of Directors (in compliance with the requirements of BDL
basic circular number 48).
The exposure to any one borrower including banks and financial institutions is further restricted by sub-limits
covering on and off-balance sheet exposures, and daily delivery risk limits in relation to trading items such as
spot and forward foreign exchange contracts. Actual exposures against limits are monitored daily. Lending
limits are reviewed in the light of changing market and economic conditions and periodic credit reviews and
assessments of probability of default.
Some other specific control and mitigation measures are outlined below:
(a) Collateral
The Bank employs a range of policies and practices to mitigate credit risk. The most traditional of these is the
taking of security for funds advances, which is a common practice. The Bank implements guidelines on the
acceptability of specific classes of collateral or credit risk mitigation. The principal collateral types for loans
and advances are:
• Mortgages over residential properties (housing loans);
• Mortgages over commercial properties (commercial loans);
• Cash collaterals;
• Personal, Bank and public sector guarantees;
• Salary domiciliation;
• Charges over business assets such as premises, inventory, accounts receivable, commercial bills,
machinery, vehicles, trade rights; and
• Charges over financial instruments such as debt securities and equities.
Longer-term finance and lending to corporate entities are generally secured. In addition, the Bank will seek
additional collateral from the counterparty as soon as impairment indicators are noticed for the relevant
individual loans and advances.
Collateral held as security for financial assets other than loans and advances is determined by the nature of
the instrument. Debt securities, treasury and other eligible bills are generally unsecured.
(b) Master netting arrangements
The Bank further restricts its exposure to credit losses by entering into master netting arrangements with
counterparties with which it undertakes a significant volume of transactions. Master netting arrangements
do not generally result in an offset of balance sheet assets and liabilities, as transactions are usually settled
on a gross basis. However, the credit risk associated with favorable contracts is reduced by a master netting
arrangement to the extent that if a default occurs, all amounts with the counterparty are terminated and
settled on a net basis.
(c) Financial covenants (for credit related commitments and loan books)
The primary purpose of these instruments is to ensure that funds are available to a customer as required.
Guarantees and standby letters of credit carry the same credit risk as loans. Documentary and commercial
letters of credit – which are written undertakings by the Bank on behalf of a customer authorising a third party
to draw drafts on the Bank up to a stipulated amount under specific terms and conditions – are collateralised
by the underlying shipments of goods to which they relate in addition to a required cash margin set by
the credit committee based on the credit rating of each customer (usually a margin of 15% is blocked in
compliance with BDL basic circular number 52) and therefore carry less risk than a direct loan.
Commitments to extend credit represent unused portions of authorisations to extend credit in the form of
loans, guarantees or letters of credit. With respect to credit risk on commitments to extend credit, the Bank is
potentially exposed to loss in an amount equal to the total unused commitments. However, the likely amount
of loss is less than the total unused commitments, as most commitments to extend credit are contingent
upon customers maintaining specific credit standards.
3.1.3- Impairment and provisioning policies
Impairment allowances are recognised for financial reporting purposes only for losses that have been incurred
at the date of the statement of financial position based on objective evidence of impairment (refer to note 2.9).
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Accordingly, the internal and external rating systems described in note 3.1.1 are used as indicators for
impairment.
The impairment provision shown in the balance sheet at year-end is derived from each of the five internal
rating grades. However, the majority of the impairment provision comes from the bottom two gradings. The
table below shows the percentage of loans and advances and the associated impairment provision for each
of the Bank's internal rating categories:

1, 2.
3.
4.
5.

Normal and special mention
Sub-Standard
Doubtful
Bad

2011
Loans
and advances
(%)

2011
Impairment
provision
(%)

2010
Loans
and advances
(%)

2010
Impairment
provision
(%)

97.4%
0.3%
1.6%
0.7%

0.1%
33.3%
96.9%
100%

96.5%
0.4%
2.4%
0.7%

0.2%
25.3%
95.5%
100%

100%

2.57%

100%

3.25%

3.1.4- Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other credit enhancements
Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance sheet items are as follows:
Maximum exposure

Assets
Balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
- Retail loans
- Small and medium size enterprises (SMEs)
- Corporate loans
- Housing loans
- Loans secured by real estate used for trading purposes
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities (debt securities)
Other assets
At 31 December

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

298,074
243,164

179,506
167,280

14,266
51,941
509,633
44,618
164,297
6,408
286,616
1,948

14,001
25,252
378,911
10,483
118,616
13,706
297,185
1,946

1,620,965

1,206,886

Maximum exposure

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Letters of guarantee
Letters of credit
Commitments and other credit obligations

39,787
17,154
1,332

33,166
31,579
1,411

Total credit commitments

58,273

66,156
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The above table represents a worst case scenario of credit risk exposure to the Bank at 31 December 2011
and 2010, without taking account of any collateral held or other credit enhancements attached. For onbalance sheet assets, the exposures set out above are based on net carrying amounts as reported in the
balance sheet.
As shown above, 18% of the total maximum exposure is derived from investment securities (2010 – 25%);
48% is derived from loans and advances to customers (2010 – 45%) and 18% is derived from balances with
the central bank (2010 – 15%).
Management is confident in its ability to continue to control and sustain minimal exposure of credit risk to the
Bank resulting from both its loans and advances portfolio and debt securities based on the following:
- 97.3% of the loans and advances to customers is categorised in the top two grades of the internal rating
system (2010 – 96.5%);
- Corporate loans, which represent the biggest group in the portfolio of loans, are backed by mortgages
and cash collaterals;
- 97% of loans and advances to customers are considered to be neither past due nor impaired (2010 – 92%);
- Loans and advances granted to related parties consist of 19% (2010 – 33%) of the total facilities provided
to clients. These loans are backed by cash collaterals, accordingly risk of default is nil, and
- 72% of the Bank›s debt securities portfolio is allocated to Lebanese treasury bills
- (2010 – 79%), of which 70% is denominated in Lebanese pounds (2010 – 70%),
Accordingly, the risk of default is considered almost nil.
Concentration of risks of financial assets with credit exposure
The following table breakdowns the Bank›s credit exposure at their carrying amounts (without taking into ny
collateral held on other credit support), as categorised by geographical region as of 31 December 2011. For
this table, the Bank has allocated exposures to regions based on the country of domicile of its counterparties.

Assets
Balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks

Lebanon
LL
Million

Syria
LL
Million

Europe
LL
Million

298,074
92,797

256

104,339

Africa
LL
Million

Other
countries
LL
Million

Total
LL
Million

-

45,772

298,074
243,164

112
639
792
7,811
3,676 122,893
1,023 11,702

173
270
91,858
2,974

14,266
51,941
509,633
44,618

Loans and advances to customers
- Retail loans
- Small and medium size enterprises
- Corporate loans
- Housing loans
- Loans secured by real estate
used for trading purposes
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
Fair value through
profit or loss
Amortised cost
Other assets
At 31 December 2011
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12,382
960
42,511
557
272,413 18,793
28,919
163,907

-

-

390

-

164,297

4,611

-

-

1,336

461

6,408

62,394
219,699
1,948

-

-

-

4,523
-

66,917
219,699
1,948

1,199,655 20,566

109,942 144,771 146,031 1,620,965

Assets
Balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks

Lebanon
LL
Million

Syria
LL
Million

Europe
LL
Million

179,506
57,742

705

97,008

13,273
22,735
207,581
10,217

12
2,242
-

108,004

-

4,093

Africa
LL
Million

Other
countries
LL
Million

Total
LL
Million

-

11,825

179,506
167,280

5
659
172
1,959
1,696 166,509
150

52
386
883
116

14,001
25,252
378,911
10,483

6,519

-

118,616

Loans and advances to customers
- Retail loans
- Small and medium size enterprises
- Corporate loans
- Housing loans
- Loans secured by real estate
used for trading purposes
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
- Designated at fair value through
profit or loss
- Available for sale
- Loans and receivables
Held to maturity
Other assets

4,620

516

-

7,764

806

13,706

162,495
54,723
75,597
1,946

-

-

-

4,370
-

4,370
162,495
54,723
75,597
1,946

At 31 December 2011

898,439

3,475

102,974 183,560

18,438 1,206,886
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3.1.5- Loans and advances
Loans and advances are summarised as follows:
2011
Loans and
Loans and
advances to advances to
Customers
banks
LL Million
LL Million

2010
Loans and
Loans and
advances to advances to
Customers
banks
LL Million
LL Million

Neither past due nor impaired
Past due but not impaired
Individually impaired

753,572
32,916
18,967

243,164
-

522,892
22,941
19,789

167,280
-

Gross
Less: allowance
for impairment

805,455

243,164

565,622

167,280

(20,700)

-

(18,359)

-

Net

784,755

243,164

547,263

167,280

Individually impaired
Portfolio allowance

(19,000)
(1,700)

-

(17,259)
(1,100)

-

Total

(20,700)

-

(18,359)

-

The total impairment charge for loans and advances is LL 20.7 billion (2010 – LL 18.4 billion) of which LL
19 billion represent the individually impaired loans and the remaining amount of LL 1,700 million (2010 – LL
1,100 million) represents the portfolio allowance. Further information of the impairment allowance for loans
and advances to customers is provided in note 7.
During the year ended 31 December 2011, the Bank›s total loans and advances increased by 43% as a result
of the expansion of the lending business. However, in order to minimise the potential increase of credit risk
exposure, the Bank focused more on the business with large corporate enterprises, banks with good credit
rating and retail customers providing sufficient collateral.
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(a) Loans and advances neither past due nor impaired
The credit quality of the portfolio of loans and advances to customers that were neither past due nor impaired
can be assessed by reference to the internal rating system adopted by the Bank.

Small and
Corporate medium size
loans
enterprises
LL Million LL Million

Claims
secured by
commercial
real estate
LL Million

Total
LL Million

Retail
loans
LL Million

Housing
loans
LL Million

Grades:
1. Normal
2. Special mention

13,764
1,060

43,516
1,101

460,273
18,115

41,933
9,695

159,445
4,610

718,991
34,581

Total

14,824

44,617

478,388

51,628

164,055

753,572

Grades:
1. Normal
2. Special mention

13,497
328

10,406
-

348,934
21,022

23,394
600

104,711
-

500,942
21,950

Total

13,825

10,406

369,956

23,994

104,711

522,892

At 31 December 2011

At 31 December 2010
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(b) Loans and advances past due but not impaired
Late processing and other administrative delays on the side of the borrower can lead to a financial asset being
past due but not impaired. Therefore, loans and advances past due are not usually considered impaired,
unless other information is available to indicate the contrary. Gross amount of loans and advances by class
to customers that were past due but not impaired were as follows:

Small and
Corporate medium size
enterprises
loans
LL Million LL Million

Claims
secured by
commercial
real estate
LL Million

Total
LL Million

Retail
loans
LL Million

Housing
loans
LL Million

Grades:
Past due 90-120days
Past due 120-150 days
Past due above 150 days

12
15

-

9
28,557

146
249

3,446
482

3,601
12
29,303

Total

27

-

28,566

395

3,928

32,916

Fair Value of collaterals by type:
Real estate mortgages
Cash collateral
Bank guarantee

12
-

-

10,180
200
-

200
-

2,093
-

12,485
200
-

12

-

10,380

200

2,093

12,685

At 31 December 2011
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Small and
Corporate medium size
enterprises
loans
LL Million LL Million

Claims
secured by
commercial
real estate
LL Million

Total
LL Million

Retail
loans
LL Million

Housing
loans
LL Million

Grades:
Past due 90-120days
Past due 120-150 days
Past due above 150 days

145
29
-

76
-

203
225
7,099

188
426
644

6,380
7,526

536
7,136
15,269

Total

174

76

7,527

1,258

13,906

22,941

-

76
-

81
-

495
234
169

7,207
-

7,859
234
169

-

76

81

898

7,207

8,262

At 31 December 2010

Fair Value of collaterals by type:
Real estate mortgages
Cash collateral
Bank guarantee

Upon initial recognition of loans and advances, the fair value of cash collaterals and bank guarantees is their
carrying amount, whereas the fair value of real estate is based on the valuations performed by independent
appraisers.
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(c) Loans and advances individually impaired

Small and
Corporate medium size
loans
enterprises
LL Million LL Million

Claims
secured by
commercial
real estate
LL Million

Total
LL Million

Retail
loans
LL Million

Housing
loans
LL Million

1.604

-

7,118

3,324

6,921

18,967

335

-

-

1,580

6,381

8,296

1,939

-

8,172

9,678

-

19,789

-

-

8,883

3,136

-

12,019

At 31 December 2011
Gross Amount
Fair value of collateral
(real estate)
At 31 December 2010
Gross Amount
Fair value of collateral
(real estate)

(d) Loans and advances renegotiated
Restructuring activities include extended payment arrangements, approved external management plans,
modification and deferral of payments. Following restructuring, a previously overdue customer account
is reset to a normal status and managed together with other similar accounts. Restructuring policies and
practices are based on indicators or criteria which, in the judgment of management, indicate that payment
will most likely continue. These policies are kept under continuous review. Restructuring is most commonly
applied to term loans.
There were no renegotiated loans that would otherwise be past due or impaired for the year ended 31
December 2011 and 31 December 2010.
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3.1.6- Debt securities and loans and advances to banks
The table below presents an analysis of debt securities by rating agency designation at 31 December 2011
and 2010, based on Standard & Poor›s ratings:

Investment securities
Fair
value
through
profit
or loss
LL
Million

Loans
Available
and
for sale receivables
LL
LL
Million
Million

Held to
maturity
LL
Million

Amortised
Cost
LL
Million

Loans
and Fair
value
through
OCI
LL
Million

advances
to banks
LL
Million

Total
LL
Million

At 31 December 2011
From AAto AA+
From A- to
A+
From BBto BB+
From B- to
B+
Not rated
Total

-

-

-

-

-

-

11,524

11,524

-

-

-

-

-

-

36,303

36,303

-

-

-

-

-

-

1,210

1,210

72.963
-

-

-

-

219,699
-

-

108,960
85,167

401,622
85,204

72,963

-

-

-

219,699

-

243,164

535,863

4,370

-

-

-

-

-

946

5,316

-

-

-

-

-

-

37,862

37,862

-

-

-

-

-

-

731

731

-

162,459
36

54,723
-

75,597
-

-

-

75,527
52,214

368,306
52,250

4,370

162,495

54,723

75,597

-

-

167,280

464,465

At 31 December 2010
From AAto AA+
From A- to
A+
From BBto BB+
From B- to
B+
Not Rated
Total
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3.1.7- Stress tests
Stress tests provide an indication of the potential size of losses that could arise in extreme conditions. In
2011, the Bank performed credit stress testing on its credit exposure in Syria and it was reviewed by senior
management and the Board of Directors. The assumptions can be summarised as follows:
Corporate and SMEs portfolio – performing loans:
• 15% of the largest debtors (by amount) will become doubtful and 20% of the outstanding balance is
expected to be non-recoverable.
Corporate and SMEs portfolio – non-performing loans:
• 25% of the largest debtors (by amount) that were classified as substandard will become doubtful and
50% of the outstanding balance is expected to be non-recoverable.
• 25% of the largest debtors (by amount) that were classified as doubtful are expected to be nonrecoverable.
Retail portfolio – performing loans:
• 25% of the largest debtors (by amount) of the retail portfolio and 20% of the housing portfolio will
become doubtful and 20% of the outstanding balance is expected to be non-recoverable.
Retail portfolio – non-performing loans:
• 25% of the largest debtors (by amount) of the retail portfolio and 20% of the housing portfolio that were
classified as substandard will become doubtful and 50% of the outstanding balance is expected to be
non-recoverable.
• 25% of the largest debtors (by amount) of the retail portfolio and 20% of the housing portfolio that were
classified as doubtful are expected to be non-recoverable.
Exclude the above mentioned clients' collateral (except cash collateral) from the computation of the
expected loss.
Based on the above, the Bank's exposure was limited to LL 1.48 billion.

3.2- Market risk
The Bank takes on exposure to market risks, which is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of
a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market prices. Market risks arise from open
positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to general and specific
market movements and changes in the level of volatility of market rates or prices such as interest rates,
foreign exchange rates and equity prices. The Bank separates exposures to market risk into either trading or
non-trading portfolios.
The market risks arising from trading and non-trading activities are monitored by the Treasury department.
Regular reports are submitted to the Board of Directors and members of Asset Liability Committee («ALCO»).
Trading portfolios include those positions arising from market-making transactions where the Bank acts
as principal with clients or with the market. Non-trading portfolios primarily arise from the interest rate
management of the entity›s retail and commercial banking assets and liabilities. Non-trading portfolios also
consist of foreign exchange and equity risks arising from the Bank›s investment securities.
3.2.1- Market risk measurement techniques
Effective identification and monitoring of market risk is essential for maintaining stable profit. This is carried out
by the Bank›s risk management department. The Bank›s treasury is responsible for managing the exposure
within the risk exposure limits set out in the policy as approved by ALCO and the Board of Directors. This
policy sets out the nature of the market risks that may be taken along with aggregate risk limits, and stipulates
the procedures, instruments and controls to be used in managing market risk. The major measurement
techniques used to measure and control market risk are outlined below.
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Sensitivity analysis
A technique used to determine how different values of an independent variable will impact a particular
dependent variable under a given set of assumptions. This technique is used within specific boundaries that
will depend on one or more input variables, such as the effect that changes in interest rates will have on a
bond›s price. Sensitivity analysis is a way to predict the outcome of a decision if a situation turns out to be
different compared to the key predictions.
The Bank performs this analysis for each type of market risk to which the Bank is exposed at each reporting
date, showing how profit or loss and equity would have been affected by changes in the relevant risk variable
that were reasonably possible at that date.
3.2.2- Sensitivity analysis
Foreign exchange risk
If the foreign currency exchange rate increases by 1%, the net effect gain/(loss) is as follows:
2011

Effect on profit

2010

Effect on
USD
LL Million

Effect on
EUR
LL Million

Effect on
USD
LL Million

Effect on
EUR
LL Million

222

18

221

1

Interest rate risk
If the interest rate increases by 2%, the net effect gain/(loss) is as follows:
2011

USD

2010

Effect on
profit
LL Million

Effect on
equity
LL Million

Effect on
profit
LL Million

Effect on
equity
LL Million

(2,176)

(7,092)

(1,372)

(5,000)
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3.2.3

Foreign exchange risk

The Bank takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuations in the prevailing foreign currency exchange rates on
its financial position and cash flows. The Board of Directors sets limits on the level of exposure by currency
which should not exceed 1% of Tier I capital (in compliance with the requirements of BDL basic circular
number 32).
This exposure limit is closely monitored by the Bank›s Treasury department on a daily basis.
The table below summarises the Bank›s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at
31 December 2011. Included in the table are the Bank›s financial instruments at carrying amounts, categorised
by currency.

LBP
USD
EUR
Other
Total
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million
At 31 December 2011
Assets
Cash and balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
- Fair value through profit or loss
- Fair value through other
comprehensive income
Amortised cost
Other assets
Total financial assets

73,247
11,113
123,231
-

156,719
130,748
536,748
4,791

73,809
99,864
88,363
1,617

141
1,439
36,413
-

303,916
243,164
784,755
6,408

51,153
20

17,894
17

3,916
-

-

72,963
37

113,835
2,361

102,874
256

2,990
5

-

219,699
2,622

374,960

950,047

270,564

37,993

1,633,564

Liabilities
Deposits from banks and Financial
institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by Acceptances
Other liabilities

116

46,770

30,322

39,893

117,101

306,564
1,187

868,694
4,791
463

238,185
1,617
248

1,277
-

1,414,720
6,408
1,898

Total financial liabilities

307,867

920,718

270,372

41,170

1,540,127

67,093

29,329

192

(3,177)

93,437

5,063

36,500

15,032

1,678

58,373

Net on-balance sheet position
Credit commitments
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LBP
USD
EUR
Other
Total
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million
At 31 December 2010
Assets
Cash and balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
Designated at fair value through profit
or loss
available for sale
Loans and receivables
Held to maturity
Other assets
Total financial assets

65,552
1,233
73,304
-

69,159
78,714
329,484
6,832

49,378
82,595
102,372
6,874

229
4,738
42,103
-

184,318
167,280
547,263
13,706

-

4,370

-

-

4,370

152,671
32,705
9,833
2,336

9,824
22,018
62,689
274

3,075
7

-

162,495
54,723
75,597
2,617

337,634

583,364

244,301

47,070

1,212,369

Liabilities
Deposits from banks and Financial
institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by Acceptances
Other liabilities

1,345

71,688

7,140

42,052

122,225

308,233
937

479,251
6,832
707

229,956
6,874
176

4,549
1

1,021,989
13,706
1,821

Total financial liabilities

310,515

558,478

244,146

46,602

1,159,741

27,119

24,886

155

468

52,628

1,479

45,498

11,023

8,156

66,156

Net on-balance sheet position
Credit commitments
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3.2.4- Interest rate risk
Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial
instrument will fluctuate because of changes in market interest rates. The Bank takes on exposure to the
effects of fluctuations in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on both its fair value and cash flow
risks. Interest margins may increase as a result of such changes but may reduce losses in the event that
unexpected movements arise. The Board sets limits on the level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that
may be undertaken, which is monitored daily by the Treasury department.
The table below summarises the Bank›s exposure to interest rate risks. It includes the Bank›s financial
instruments at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing (for example for floating
rate notes).

Up to
1 month
LL
Million

At 31 December 2011
Assets
Cash and balances
with the central bank
249,807
Loans and advances to banks 221,933
Loans and advances to customers 232,226
Debtors by acceptances
2,455
Investment securities:
At fair value through profit or loss
2,502
At fair value through other
comprehensive income
Held at amortised cost
2,000
Other assets
-

3 - 12
months
LL
Million

1-5
years
LL
Million

Over
5 years
LL
Million

Non
interest
bearing
LL
Million

Total
LL
Million

25,628
9,743
46,280
2,658

9,045
255,866
1,295

13,568
230,909
-

18,357
-

5,868
11,488
1,117
-

303,916
243,164
784,755
6,408

1,508

30,404

19,981

11,329

7,329

72,963

5,500
-

33,111
-

108,858
-

67,725
-

37
2,505
2,622

37
219,699
2,622

1-3
months
LL
Million

Total financial assets

710,923

91,317

329,721

373,316

97,411

30,876

1,633,564

Liabilities
Deposits from banks
and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities

109,231
692,719
2,455
-

408,273
2,658
-

7,538
233,179
1,295
-

71,068
-

-

332
9,481
1,898

117,101
1,414,720
6,408
1,898

Total financial liabilities

804,405

410,931

242,012

71,068

-

11,711

1,540,127

Total interest repricing gap

(93,482) (319,614)

87,709

302,248

97,411

19,165
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Up to
1 month
LL
Million

1-3
months
LL
Million

3 - 12
months
LL
Million

1-5
years
LL
Million

Over
5 years
LL
Million

Non
interest
bearing
LL
Million

Total
LL
Million

At 31 December 2011
Assets
Cash and balances
with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
Designated a fair value
through profit or loss
Available for sale
Loans and receivables
Held to maturity
Other assets

67,929
71,728
300,843
-

12,697
-

7,500
4,522
3,782
29,217 163,535
-

27,135
50,089
-

1,245
-

77,232
91,770
2,334
13,706

184,318
167,280
547,263
13,706

37,139
10,649
-

51,373
17,562
-

60,533
54,704
33,495
-

4,250
753
13,891
-

120
19
2,617

4,370
162,495
54,723
75,597
2,617

84,505 240,774

225,956

20,139

187,798 1,212,369

41,884
122,225
90,346 1,021,989
13,706
13,706
1,821
1,821

Total financial assets

453,197

Liabilities
Deposits from banks
and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities

46,831
672,535
-

24,770
146,190
-

51,785
-

8,740
61,133
-

-

Total financial liabilities

719,366

170,960

51,785

69,873

-

147,757

(86,455) 188,989

156,083

20,139

40,041

Total interest repricing gap

(266,169)

1,159,74
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3.3- Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Bank is unable to meet its obligations when they fall due as a result of customer
deposits being withdrawn, cash requirements from contractual commitments, or other cash outflows, such
as debt maturities. Such outflows would deplete available cash resources for client lending, trading activities
and investments. In extreme circumstances, lack of liquidity could result in reductions in the balance sheet
and sales of assets, or potentially an inability to fulfill lending commitments. The risk that the Bank will be
unable to do so is inherent in all banking operations and can be affected by a range of institution-specific and
market-wide events including, but not limited to merger and acquisition activity, systemic shocks and natural
disasters.
3.3.1- Liquidity risk management process
The Bank›s liquidity management process, as carried out within the Bank and monitored by the Treasury
department, includes:
- Day-to-day funding, managed by monitoring future cash flows to ensure that requirements can be met.
This includes replenishment of funds as they mature or are borrowed by customers. The Bank maintains an
active presence in global money markets to enable this to happen;
- Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any
unforeseen interruption to cash flow;
- Monitoring the liquidity ratios of the balance sheet against internal and regulatory requirements (BDL basic
circulars number 72, 73, 84, 86 and 87); and
- Managing the concentration and profile of debt maturities.
Monitoring and reporting take the form of cash flow measurement and projections for the next day, week and
month respectively, as these are key periods for liquidity management. The starting point for those projections
is an analysis of the contractual maturity of the financial liabilities and the expected collection date of the
financial assets (note 3.3.3).
3.3.2- Funding approach
Sources of liquidity are regularly set by the Treasury department, while the risk management department and
the ALCO monitor those sources to maintain a wide diversification by currency, geography, provider, product
and term.
3.3.3- Non-derivative ﬁnancial liabilities and assets held for managing liquidity risk
The table below presents the cash flows payable by the Bank under non-derivative financial liabilities and
assets held for managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities at the date of the balance sheet.
The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows, whereas the Bank manages
the liquidity risk based on a different basis (refer to note 3.3.1), not resulting in a significantly different analysis.
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Up to
1 month
LL
Million

1-3
months
LL
Million

3 - 12
months
LL
Million

1-5
years
LL
Million

Over
5 years
LL
Million

At 31 December 2011
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities

109,564
702,604
2,455
267

408,273
2,658
1,283

7,538
233,179
1,295
-

71,068
-

117,101
- 1,415,124
6,408
1,550

Total liabilities
(contractual maturity dates)

814,890

412,214

242,012

71,068

- 1,219,278

Assets held for managing liquidity risk
(contractual maturity dates)

729,225

93,070

331,919

373,715

136,813 1,664,742

At 31 December 2010
Liabilities
Deposits from banks
and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Engagements by acceptances
Other liabilities

74,386
798,273
1,059

30
128,195
6,872
223

50,452
45,099
6,834
2,937

8,140
63,128
852

133,008
- 1,034,695
13,706
5,071

Total liabilities
(contractual maturity date)

873,718

135,320

105,322

72,120

- 1,186,480

Assets held for managing liquidity risk
(contractual maturity dates)

328,447

165,475

443,427

306,237

26,211 1,269,798

Total
LL
Million
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3.3.4- Assets held for managing liquidity risk
The Bank holds a diversified portfolio of cash and high-quality liquid securities to support payment obligations
and contingent funding in a stressed market environment. The Bank›s assets held for managing liquidity risk
comprises:
• Cash and balances with the central bank;
• Lebanese treasury bills and other securities that are easily liquidated in the secondary markets; and
• Secondary sources of liquidity in the form of short term placements (with original maturities less than 3
months) with reputable banks.

3.4- Fair value of ﬁnancial assets and liabilities
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair value
The table below summarises the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities not
presented on the Bank›s balance sheet at their fair value:
Carrying value

LL Million
2011

Fair value

LL Million
2010

LL Million
2011

LL Million
2010

298,074
243,164
637,101
6,408

179,506
167,280
547,263
13,706

298,074
243,164
777,615
6,408

179,490
167,280
540,850
13,706

219,699
-

54,723
75,597

225,133
-

63,809
81,769

1,404,446

1,038,075

1,550,394

1,046,904

Financial liabilities
Deposits from banks and financial institutions
117,101
Deposits from customers
1,414,720
Engagements by acceptances
6,408

122,225
1,021,989
13,706

117,101
1,411,974
6,408

122,210
1,021,550
13,706

1,538,229

1,157,920

1,535,483

1,157,466

Financial assets
Balances with the central bank
Loans and advances to banks
Loans and advances to customers
Debtors by acceptances
Investment securities:
Amortised cost
Loans and receivables
Held to maturity

(i) Loans and advances to banks and balances with the central bank
The carrying amount of floating rate placements, overnight deposits, items in the course of collection,
and current accounts (i.e. maturity is less than 1 year) is a reasonable approximation of fair value.
The estimated fair value of fixed interest bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using
prevailing money-market interest rates for debts with similar credit risk and remaining maturity.
(ii) Loans and advances to customers
Loans and advances are net of charges for impairment. The estimated fair value of loans and advances
represents the discounted amount of estimated future cash flows expected to be received. Expected cash
flows are discounted at current market rates to determine fair value. The carrying amount of overdrafts
and impaired loans is a reasonable approximation of fair value.
(iii) Investment securities
The fair value is based on market prices or broker/dealer price quotations. Where this information is not
available, fair value is estimated using quoted market prices for securities with similar credit, maturity,
and yield characteristics. For more information, refer to step (ii) above.
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(iv) Deposits from banks and due to customers
The estimated fair value of deposits with no stated maturity, which includes
non-interest-bearing deposits, is the amount repayable on demand.
The estimated fair value of fixed interest-bearing deposits is based on discounted cash flows using
interest rates for new debts with similar remaining maturity.
(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value
See note 2.4 «Determination of fair value».
(c) Fair value hierarchy
IFRS 7 requires an entity to classify its financial instruments held at fair value according to a hierarchy that
reflects the significance of observable market inputs. The classification of a financial instrument is based on
the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement in its entirety. The three levels of the fair
value hierarchy are defined below:
- Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. This level includes
listed equity securities and debt instruments on exchanges.
- Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices). This level includes the majority
of the OTC derivative contracts, traded loans issued structured debt. The sources of input parameters like
LIBOR yield curve or counterparty credit risk are Bloomberg and Reuters.
- Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable inputs).
This level includes equity investments and debt instruments with significant unobservable components.
This hierarchy requires the use of observable market data when available. The Bank considers relevant and
observable market prices in its valuations where possible.
3.4.1

Assets and liabilities measured at fair value

The following table shows the Bank›s financial assets that are measured at fair value analysed by level within
the fair value hierarchy.

Level 1
LL Million

Level 2
LL Million

Total
LL Million

At 31 December 2011
Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss:
-Debt securities
-Equity securities at fair value through profit or loss
Equity securities at fair value through other comprehensive
income

15,764
6,046

51,153
-

66,917
6,046

-

37

37

Total assets

21,810

51,190

73,000

4,370

-

4,370

3,565

159,893
37

158,893
3,602

7,935

158,930

166,865

At 31 December 2010
Financial assets held at fair value through profit or loss:
-Debt securities
Available-for-sale financial assets:
- Investment securities - dept
- Investment securities - equity
Total assets
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3.5- Operational risk
Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, systems failure, human
error, or from external events. When controls fail to perform, it can lead to legal or regulatory implications, or
financial /reputational loss.

3.6- Capital management
The Bank›s objectives when managing capital, which is a broader concept than the ‹equity› on the face of the
Balance sheet, are:
- To comply with the capital requirements set by the regulators of the banking markets where the Bank
operates;
- To apply mitigation techniques that may help lower the capital requirements;
- To safeguard the Bank›s ability to continue as a going concern so that it can continue to provide returns
for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders; and
- To maintain a strong capital base to support the development of its business.
Capital adequacy and the use of regulatory capital are monitored daily by the Bank›s management, employing
techniques based on the guidelines developed by the Basel Committee, as implemented by BDL, for
supervisory purposes. The required information is filed with the Authority on a monthly basis.
The Bank maintains a ratio of total regulatory capital to its risk-weighted assets (the ‹Basel Ratio›) above a
minimum level agreed with the authority which takes into account the risk profile of the Bank.
The regulatory capital requirements are strictly observed when managing economic capital.
The Bank›s regulatory capital is managed by its Board of Directors and monitored by the Risk Management
department.
In accordance with BDL circular no. 43, the Bank›s capital is constituted of the following:
- Tier I capital: common shares, cash contributions (net of goodwill), unspecified banking reserve, legal
reserve, retained earnings and reserves created by appropriations of retained earnings (except for real
estate revaluation reserve); and
- Tier II capital: subordinated loans, revaluation surplus on real estate (as approved by BDL), preferred
shares (except non-cumulative) and 50% of the fair value reserve relating to financial assets designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income.
Any shortfalls in required provisions for non-performing loans and any violation of the set limit on granting
facilities to related parties are also deducted from the regulatory capital.
The risk weighted assets are measured using the ‹standardised approach› (SA) for credit risk. Risk weights are
assigned to assets on and off balance sheet items according to their asset class and credit assessment. For
the determination of credit assessments, Standard & Poor›s (S&P) rating is used. Any eligible collateral and
netting agreements are taken into account for calculating risk-weighted assets.
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The Bank's capital adequacy level according to the requirements of Basel II is as follows:

2011
LL Million
Tier I Capital
Share capital and cash contributions to capital
Legal reserve
Reserve for unidentified banking risks
Retained earnings
Total regulatory Capital (a)
Risk - weighted assets
Credit risk
Operational risk
Market risk
Total risk - weighted assets (b)
Basel ratio (a)/(b)

82,000
4,953
6,024
11,572
104,549

1,024,394
46,744
3,577
1,074,715
9.73%

During 2010, the Bank›s capital adequacy ratio were computed according to Basel I. The table below
summarises the composition of regulatory capital and the capital adequacy ratio of the Bank as at 31
December 2010:

2010
LL Million
Tier I Capital
Share capital and cash contributions to capital
Premium
Total qualifying Tier I Capital
Tier II Capital
Revaluation reserve - available for sale investments
Total qualifying Tier II Capital

41,000
23,365
64,365

1,626
1,626

Total regulatory capital (a)

65,991

Risk - weighted assets
On-balance sheet
Off-balance sheet
Total risk-weighted assets

391,348
16,878
408,226

Duplicated total violation of the maximum credit risk limit
Net global position
Total (b)

21,992
543
430,761

Basel ratio (a)/(b)

15.32%
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4- CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
The Bank›s financial statements and its financial result are influenced by accounting policies, assumptions,
estimates and management judgment, which necessarily have to be made in the course of preparation of the
financial statements.
The Bank makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within
the next financial year. All estimates and assumptions required in conformity with IFRS are best estimates
undertaken in accordance with the applicable standard. Estimates and judgments are evaluated on a
continuous basis, and are based on past experience and other factors, including expectations with regard to
future events. Accounting policies and management›s judgments for certain items are especially critical for
the Bank›s results and financial situation due to their materiality.
(a) Impairment losses on loans and advances
The Bank reviews its loan portfolios to assess impairment on a semi-annual basis. In determining whether an
impairment loss should be recorded in the statement of comprehensive income, the Bank makes judgments
as to whether there is any observable data indicating an impairment trigger followed by measurable decrease
in the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio of loans before the decrease can be identified with that
portfolio. This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the
payment status of borrowers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that correlate with defaults
on assets in the Bank. Management uses estimates based on historical loss experience for assets with credit
risk characteristics and objective evidence of impairment similar to those in the portfolio when scheduling
its future cash flows. The methodology and assumptions used for estimating both the amount and timing of
future cash flows are reviewed regularly to reduce any differences between loss estimates and actual loss
experience.
In addition to the specific impairment provision on individually significant loans and advances, the Bank
recognises collective impairment provision in respect of loans and advances which have not yet been
provided for under specific impairment and for which credit risk progressed since the loans and advances
were granted. The amount of provision is determined based on historical losses within each credit rating
category. The amount of provision is adjusted regularly to reflect current economical changes.
This credit rating takes into consideration the sovereign risk, economic sector risk, technological downturns,
in addition to any specific indicative factors or decrease in future cash flow.
(b) Pension beneﬁts
The present value of the pension obligations depends on a number of factors that are determined on an
actuarial basis using a number of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the net cost for
pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions will impact the carrying amount of
pension obligations.
The Bank determines the appropriate discount rate at the end of each year. This is the interest rate that should
be used to determine the present value of estimated future cash outflows expected to be required to settle
the pension obligations. In determining the appropriate discount rate, the Bank considers the interest rates of
Lebanese government securities that have terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related liability.
(c) Fair value of ﬁnancial instruments
The fair values of financial instruments where no active market exists or where quoted prices are not
otherwise available are determined by using discounted cash flow model. These cash flow models are
based on underlying market prices for interest rates. Where market data is not available for all elements of
a derivative›s valuation, extrapolation and interpolation of existing data has been used. These models are
validated and periodically reviewed by the financial control department. All models are calibrated to ensure
that outputs reflect actual data and comparative market prices. To the extent practical, models use only
observable data however, areas such as credit risk (both own credit risk and counterparty risk), volatilities
and correlations require management to make estimates. Changes in assumptions about these factors could
affect the reported fair value of financial instruments.
Refer to note 3.2.2 for sensitivity information for financial instruments.
(d) Income taxes
Significant estimates are required in determining the provision for income taxes. There are many transactions
and calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. The Bank recognises liabilities for
anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax
outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will
impact the income tax and deferred tax provisions.
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5- CASH AND BALANCES WITH THE CENTRAL BANK
2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Cash in hand
Balances with Central bank of Lebanon other than mandatory reserve deposits

5,842
114,900

4,812
37,938

included in cash and cash equivalents (note 25)
Mandatory reserve deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon (a)
Interest receivable

120,742
183,147
27

42,750
141,518
50

303,916

184,318

290,348
13,568

157,160
27,158

303,916

184,318

Current
Non Current

(a) In accordance with BDL regulations, the Bank is required to constitute mandatory reserves in Lebanese
pounds («LL reserve») of 15% to 25% of the customers deposit accounts denominated in Lebanese
pounds. The Bank is also required to constitute mandatory reserves in foreign currency («FCY reserve»)
calculated on the basis of 15% of customers deposit accounts denominated in foreign currency.
Mandatory reserve deposits are not available for use in the Bank›s day-to-day operations. Cash in hand and
LL reserves are non-interest bearing. Other money-market placements and FCY reserves are floating–rate
interests.

6- LOANS AND ADVANCES TO BANKS
2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Items in course of collection
Term deposits
Current accounts

11,429
113,116
114,499

4,256
72,946
86,271

Included in cash and cash equivalents (note 25)
Loans and advances to banks
Interest receivable

239,044
4,061
59

163,473
3,782
25

243,164

167,280

Loans and advances to banks are current with remaining maturities less than one year.
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7- LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS
LL Million

LL Million

Commercial loans (a)
Loans and advances to related parties (note 27)
Creditors accidentally debtors

641,307
147,654
16,494

383,725
179,342
2,555

Gross loans and advances to customers

805,455

565,622

Less: allowance for impairment

(20,700)

(18,359)

Net loans and advances to customers

784,755

547,263

Current
Non-current

535,489
249,266

495,932
51,331

784,755

547,263

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

298,310
275,560
36,683
15,090
14,215
1,434
15

148,876
179,517
32,312
15,387
6,538
1,082
13

641,307

383,725

(a) Commercial loans
Medium and long term loans
Current debtor accounts
Promissory notes
Discounted bills
Unpaid bills
Net debit against credit accounts - speculation accounts
Interest receivable
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The movement of allowance for impairment is summarised as follows:
2011
Collective
Specific
allowance
allowance
for
for
impairment
impairment
LL Million
LL Million

2010
Collective
Collective
allowance
allowance
for
for
impairment
impairment
LL Million
LL Million

Balance at 1 January
Increase in impairment allowances (note 21)
Unrealised interest
Release of provisions (note 21)
Exchange differences

1,100
600
-

17,259
252
1,696
(165)
(42)

1,100
-

23,773
72
(2,132)
(4,571)
117

Balance at 31 December

1,700

19,000

1,100

17,259

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

6,408

13,706

8- DEBTORS BY ACCEPTANCES

Balance

Debtors by acceptances represent the customers› liability to the Bank in respect of advances and commercial
bills that should be settled by the Bank on their behalf. These acceptances correspond to negotiated deferred
payment of import letters of credit. This caption is offset by «Engagements by acceptances» caption classified
under liabilities.
All debtors and engagements by acceptances balances are current.
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9- INVESTMENT SECURITIES
2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Securities at fair value through proﬁt or loss
Equity securities:
- Listed
- Unlisted

3,731
2,315

-

Total equity securities

6,046

-

11,393
4,371
15,764

4,370
4,370

Unlisted
Lebanese Treasury bills

51,153

-

Total debt securities

66,917

4,370

Total securities at fair value through profit or loss

72,963

4,370

-

158,893

-

3,565
37

Total securities available for sale

-

162,495

Securities loans and receivables
Debt securities - unlisted:
- Certificates of deposit with the Central Bank of lebanon
- Certificates of deposit with banks and financial institutions

-

49,489
5,234

Total securities loans and receivables

-

54,723

-

3,066

-

62,699
9,832

-

75,597

Debt securities:
Listed:
Lebanese Treasury bills - Eurobonds
Debt security linked to credit risk

Securities available for sale
Debt securities unlisted (Lebanese Treasury Bills)
Equity securities:
Listed
Unlisted

Securities held to maturity
Certificates of deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon
Lebanese treasury bills:
- Listed
- Unlisted
Total securities held to maturity
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2011
LL Million
Securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Equity securities - unlisted:
participation in Kafalat S.A.L.
Participation in Panacea Health Club

2010
LL Million

20
17

-

37

-

- Lebanese Treasury bills
- Certificates of deposit with the Central Bank of Lebanon
- Certificates of deposits with banks and financial institutions

77,635
65,135
5,265

-

Debt securities - listed (Lebanese Treasury bills)

71,664

-

Total securities held at amortized cost

219,699

-

Total investment securities

292,699

297,185

Current
Non-current

113,645
179,054

131,714
165,471

292,699

297,185

Total securities at fair value through other comprehensive income
Securities held at amortised cost
Debt securities - unlisted
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At 1 January 2011, the Bank early adopted IFRS 9 (refer to note 2.1) and the impact on the financial statements
was as follows:

Book value

Classification

Financial assets

Difference
LL
Million

IAS 39
LL
Million

IFRS 9
LL
Million

51,887
107,006

51,887
104,656

2,350

3,565

3,565

-

IAS 39

IFRS 9

Lebanese treasury bills
Lebanease treasury bills

Available for sale

Fair value through
profit or loss

Available for sale

Amortised cost

Equity securities

Available for sale

Fair value through
profit or loss

Equity securities

Available for sale Fair Value through
OCI

37
162,495

37
160,145

2,350

Other debt securities

Fair value through Fair value through
profit or loss
profit or loss

4,370

4,370

-

72,531
3,066
75,597

-

Lebanese treasury bills
Certificates of deposit

Held to maturity

Amortised cost

Held to maturity

Amortised cost

72,531
3,066
75,597

Certificates of deposit

Loans and
receivables

Amortised cost

54,723

54,723

-

297,185

294,835

2,350

Total investment securities

The movement in investment securities may be summarised as follows:
Fair value
Fair value
through
Available
Loans &
Held-to- Amortised through
profit or loss for sale Receivables maturity
OCI
cost
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

At 1 January 2010
Additions
Disposals
(sale and redemption)
Net change in fair value

4,370
-

173,174
70,254

58,023
-

81,452
3,000

-

-

317,019
73.254

-

(79,703)
(1,230)

(3,300)
-

(8.855)
-

-

-

(91,858)
(1,230)

162,495 54,723
(162,495) (54,723)
-

75,597
(75,597)
-

234,234
131,988

37
-

297,185
(2,350)
138,737

-

(139,446)
24,040
(23,999)
(1,468)

37

292,699

At 31 December 2010
Effect of IFRS 9 adoption
Additions
Disposals
(sale and redemption)
Securities swapped in
Securities swapped out
Net change in fair value

4,370
56,194
6,749
(314)
7,432
(1,468)

-

-

- (139,132)
16,608
(23,999)
-

At 31 December 2011

72,963

-

-

-
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Total
LL Million

219,699

10- PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Work in
Equipment
Buildings Installations Vehicles & furniture Decoration progress
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

At 1 January 2010
Cost
6,859
Accumulated
depreciation
(2,320)
Net book amount
4,539
Year ended 31 December 2010
Opening net book amount
4,539
Additions - net of
transfers
21,218
Disposals
Depreciation charge
(431)
Closing net book amount
25,326
At 31 December 2010
Cost
Accumulated
depreciation
Net book amount

Total
LL Million

790

187

4,985

4,649

22

17,492

(577)
213

(29)
158

(3,410)
1,575

(2,711)
1,938

22

(9,047)
8,445

213

158

1,575

1,938

22

8,445

61
(80)
194

193
(89)
262

549
(14)
(459)
1,651

228
(550)
1,616

741
763

22,990
(14)
(1,609)
29,812

28,077

851

380

4,483

4,877

763

39,431

(2,751)
25,326

(657)
194

(118)
262

(2,832)
1,651

(3,261)
1,616

763

(9,619)
29,812

Work in
Equipment
Buildings Installations Vehicles & furniture Decoration progress
LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million LL Million

Total
LL Million

Year ended 31 December 2011
25,326
Opening net book amount
1,110
Additions
(1,459)
Depreciation charge
24,977
Closing net book amount

194
54
(158)
90

262
1
(95)
168

1,651
45
(553)
1,143

1,616
4
(569)
1,051

763
2,954
3,717

29,812
4,168
(2,834)
31,146

At 31 December 2011
Cost
Accumulated depreciation
Net book amount

905
(815)
90

381
(213)
168

4,528
(3,385)
1,143

4,881
(3,830)
1,051

3,717
3,717

43,599
12,453
31,146

29,187
4,210
24,977
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11- OTHER ASSETS

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Blocked deposit at the Lebanese treasury (a)
Due from the national social security fund (b)
Prepaid expences
Other receivables

1,500
577
380
165
2,622

1,500
446
373
298
2,617

Current
Non-current

1,122
1,500
2,622

1,117
1,500
2,617

(a) The blocked deposit at the Lebanese treasury represents a blocked guarantee under Article 132 of the
Code of Money and Credit paid upon the establishment of the Bank. This deposit can only be withdrawn
upon liquidation of the Bank.
(b) This caption represents medical expenses paid to the Bank›s employees, which should be reimbursed
by the national social security fund.

12- DEPOSITS FROM BANKS AND FINANCIAL INSTITUTIONS

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Current deposits
Term deposits
Deposits from Central Bank of Lebanon (note 9(a))
Interest payable

42,931
73,838
332
117,101

34,912
85,914
1,220
179
122,225

Current
Non-current

117,101
117,101

114,687
7,538
122,225
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13- DEPOSITS FROM CUSTOMERS

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

Saving accounts (a)
Net credit against debit accounts and cash margins (b)
Due to related parties (note 27)
Sight deposits (c)
Items in course of payment
Term deposits
Interest payable

786,172
183,909
320,824
107,551
5,700
1,082
9,482
1,414,720

551,882
225,882
170,503
60,830
3,511
1,491
7,890
1,021,989

Current
Non - current

1,343,652
71,068
1,414,720

960,856
61,133
1,021,989

775,629
10,543
786,172

543,356
8,526
551,882

153,573
23,016
6,517
803
183,909

181,753
24,176
19,733
220
225,882

95,757
6,469
5,325
107,551

57,487
3,002
341
60,830

a. Saving accounts
Saving accounts - term
Saving accounts - sight

b. Net credit against debit accounts and cash margins
Cash collateral against advances
Margins against speculation accounts
Margins against letters of guarantees and letters of credit
Other customer accounts

c. Sight deposits
Current and checking accounts
Debtors accidentally creditors
Public sector deposits

Deposits include coded accounts amounting to LL 265 billion as of 31 December 2011 (2010 - LL 254 billion).
These accounts were opened under the provisions of Article 3 of the Banking Secrecy Law dated 3 September
1956 governing banks in Lebanon. As per the terms of this article, the Bank, under normal conditions, is not
permitted to disclose the identities of coded account depositors to third parties including its auditors.
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14- OTHER LIABILITIES

2011
LL Million
Accured expenses
Deferred revenue
Due to the national social security fund (b)
Taxes payable
Due to Ministry of Finance (a)
Other liabilities

2010
LL Million

746
503
267
259
123

573
514
217
224
100
193

1,898

1,821

Other liabilities are expected to be settled within no more than 12 months of the date of the balance sheet.
(a) The amount due to the Ministry of Finance represents taxes paid by the customers through the Bank
as part of tax payment services provided by the Bank.
(b) The outstanding balance at year end represents national social security fund subscriptions for the
month of December and the reconciliation of the year.

15- RETIREMENT BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

2011
LL Million
Balance at 1 January
Charge for the year (note 22)
Benefits paid
Balance at 31 December
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2010
LL Million

817
604
(36)

761
85
(29)

1,385

817

16- SHARE CAPITAL
At 31 December 2011 the Bank›s share capital consists of 82 million issued and fully paid shares with a
nominal value of LL 1,000 each.
According to the extraordinary General Assembly meeting that was held on the 25th of November 2010, the
bank has increased its capital share capital from LL 41 billion to LL 82 billion. The increase was performed
through a transfer from other reserves for an amount of LL 12,384 million and through a cash injection of LL
28,616 million. The increase was approved by the Central Council of the Central Bank of Lebanon on the 29th
of December 2010.

17- OTHER RESERVES

Other reserves
Legal reserve (a)
Reserve for unidentified banking risks (b)
General reserve (c)
Revaluation reserve of available-for-sale
investment securities (d)

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

4,953
6,024
-

4,953
6,028
12,384

-

3,252

10,977

26,617

(a) Legal reserve
In accordance with the Code of Commerce and Article 132 of the Code of Money and Credit, the Bank is
required to transfer 10% of net profits from retained earnings to legal reserve. This reserve is not available for
distribution to shareholders. The Bank appropriates the legal reserve from the current year›s net profit.
(b) Reserve for unidentiﬁed banking risks
According to the Central Bank of Lebanon circular number 50, the Bank is required to appropriate part of its
profit to constitute a reserve for unidentified banking risks.
This reserve represents the minimum of 2 per mil of the total denominator of the items specified in article 1
of the Central Bank of Lebanon article number 44. This reserve should be constituted in Lebanese Pounds
and foreign currencies based on the percentage of total risk-weighted assets on and off balance sheet. In
addition, this reserve should not be less than 1.25% of the denominator at the end of the tenth financial years
(i.e.
31 December 2007) and 2% of the denominator at the end of the twentieth financial years (i.e. 31 December
2017). This reserve is considered part of the Bank›s Tier I capital and is not available for distribution. The Bank
appropriates the reserve for unidentified banking risks from the current year›s net profit.
(c) General reserve
This reserve was constituted from appropriation of retained earnings and is available for distribution to
shareholders.
(d) Revaluation reserve of available for sale investment securities
The revaluation reserve shows the effects from the fair value measurement of financial instruments of the
category available for sale after deduction of deferred taxes. Any gains or losses are not recognised in the
statement of comprehensive income until the asset has been sold or impaired. On 1 January 2011, upon the
early adoption of IFRS 9, this reserve has been liquidated. Refer to note 9.
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18- NET INTEREST INCOME

Interest and similar income
Loans and advances:
- Banks
- Customers
- Related parties (note 27)
Investment securities:
- Available for sale
- Held - to - maturity
- Loans and receivables
- Fair value through profit or loss
- Amortised cost

Interest and similar expenses
Deposits from banks and financial institutions
Deposits from customers
Deposits from related parties (note 27)
Net interest income

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

1,724
45,789
4,486
51,999

1,342
25,209
3,766
30,317

8,536
10,805
19,341
71,340

12,480
5,486
5,374
418
23,758
54,075

(2,522)
(42,272)
(4,543)
(49,337)
22,003

(1,793)
(33,595)
(1,694)
(37,082)
16,993

6,360
465
236
183
149
131
58
323
7,905

5,106
361
197
182
177
84
134
300
6,551

(325)
(139)
(464)
7,441

(237)
(167)
(404)
6,147

19- NET FEE AND COMMISSION INCOME
Fee and commission income
Credit related fees and commission
Portfolio and other management fees
Commission on statements of account
Commission on checks
Commission on cash deposits
Commission on opening and closing of saving accounts
Commission on swift
Other commissions
Fee and commission expense
Brokerage fees paid
Other commissions
Net fee and commission income
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20- NET TRADING INCOME

Net gains on foreign axchange transactions (a)
Net unrealised losses on ﬁnancial assets
at fair value through profit or loss
Gain on sale of debt securities
Dividend income
Other losses

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

1,727

1,563

(583)
1
311
-

763
227
(41)

1,456

2,512

The caption «net gains on foreign exchange transactions» includes gains and losses from the translation of
foreign currency assets and liabilities

21- NET (CHARGES) RELEASES OF IMPAIRMENT ON LOANS AND ADVANCES TO CUSTOMERS

Provision for loans and advances to customers (note 7)
Write back of provisions (note 7)
Write back of provisions for unrealised interest
Collective provision (note 7)
Losses on settlement of debts

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

(252)
165
52
(600)
(55)

(72)
4,571
4,060
(5,079)

(690)

3,480

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

5,179
760
604
404
379
254
76
229

4,410
666
85
332
421
143
81
405

7,885

6,543

22- PERSONNEL EXPENSES

Salaries and wages
Social security costs
Retirement benefit obligation - defined benefit plan (note 15)
Transportation costs
Scholarship
Medical insurance expenses
Training
Other benefits

The average number of persons employed by the Bank was 165 (2010 - 150).
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23- OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

2011
LL Million
Water, electricity and telecommunication expenses
Rent expense
Deposits guarantee premiums
Board of directors remunerations (note 27)
Professional fees
Office supplies and printings
Repairs and maintenance expenses
Cleaning
Subscription fees
Security expenses
Travel and transportation expenses
Other expenses

2010
LL Million

865
543
513
480
414
358
342
240
180
174
97
1,123

642
518
372
288
530
274
305
208
164
123
95
649

5,329

4,168

24- INCOME TAX EXPENSE
In accordance with article 51 of law number 497/2003, a 5% tax is withheld at source on interest received.
The Bank›s tax charge is determined as the higher of corporate tax and tax on interest income withheld during
the year. During 2011, the 5% tax withheld on interest received of LL 685 million (2010 – LL 838 million) was
lower than the Bank›s corporate income tax of LL 2.7 billion (2010 – LL 2.7 billion).

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

17,857
2,679

17,377
2,607

Non-resident tax
Payment of retirement benefit obligations
Tax on profit for the year
Other
Other provisions
Release of tax provision

14
2,693
(47)
95
-

19
38
2,664
(34)
79
(11)

Income tax expense

2,741

2,698

Profit before tax
Income tax at statutory rate of 15%
Effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes:

The movement in the income tax liability is summarised as follows:
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At 1 January
Provision set up during the year
Settlements
At 31 December

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

1,860
2,741
(2,546)

926
2,698
(1,764)

2,055

1,860

The fiscal years 2010 and 2011 remain subject to examination by the income tax authorities.

25- CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and balances with the central bank (note 5)
Loans and advances to banks (note 6)

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

120,742
239,044
359,786

42,750
163,473
206,223

26- CONTINGENT LIABILITIES AND COMMITMENTS
(a) Legal proceedings:
There were a number of legal proceedings involving claims by and against the Bank at 31 December 2011,
which arose in the ordinary course of business. The Bank does not expect the ultimate resolution of any of
the proceedings to which Bank is party to have a significantly adverse effect on the financial position of the
Bank. Accordingly, no provision has been booked.
(b) Commitments related to credit facilities
Commitments related to credit facilities comprise commitments to extend credit facilities, confirmed letters
of credit and guarantees to accommodate for the needs of the Bank›s customers. Commitments to extend
credit facilities represent contractual agreements to extend loans and credits to be determined automatically.
Commitments regularly have set maturity dates or are subject to specific conditions for termination and
usually require the payment of commissions. Assuming that the commitments might end before using the
funds, total commitments might not represent the future cash flows.
The schedule below presents the off-balance sheet balances of the Bank›s Commitments related to credit
facilities:

Letters of guarantee - clients*
Confirmed documentary credit - import
Foreign currency forward contracts

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

39,787
17,154
3
56,944

33,166
31,579
7
64,752

* The caption «letters of guarantee – clients» includes guarantees on customer bills amounting to LL 2,996 million.
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27- RELATED PARTIES TRANSACTIONS
The Bank engages in banking transactions with related parties in the normal course of business. Transactions
with related parties comprise loans, deposits, guarantees and financial commitments.
The volume of related party transactions, outstanding balances at year end, and relating income and expenses
for the year are detailed as follows:
(a) Loans and advances to related parties

Individuals - Shareholders and their relatives
Companies
Key management
Loans outstanding at year end (note 7)

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

79,403
66,727
1,524

54,641
123,967
734

147,654

179,342

Loans and advances to related parties include facilities amounting to LL 142 billion secured by cash collaterals.

(b) Deposits from related parties

Deposits at year end (note 13)

2011
LL Million

2010
LL Million

320,824

170,503

3,015
3,015

6,986
7,764
14,750

4,486
(4,543)
466
480

3,766
(1,694)
450
288

(c) Other balances with related parties
Letters of guarantee and letters of credit
Debtors by acceptances

(d) Other transactions with related parties
Interest and similar income (note 18)
Interest and similar charges (note 18)
Rent expense
Board of directors’ remuneration (note 23)

During 2010, the Bank purchased several plots of estate number 6602/Shiah (the Bank›s main branch) and
estate number 2552/ Ras Beirut (Verdun branch) from the Bank's shareholders for an amount of LL 22 billion.
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NETWORK
MAIN BRANCH
Hejejj Bldg., Adnan El Hakim Str. Jnah
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 1 826740
Fax: +961 1 841190 / 1
Manager: Mr. Mohammad Youssef

VERDUN BRANCH
Azar Bldg., Verdun Str.
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 1 790203 / 4 / 7 / 8 / 9
Fax: +961 1 790205
Manager: Miss Sawsan Hashem

TYR BRANCH
El Roz Bldg., Jounblat Roundabout
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 7 345333
Fax: +961 7 345666
Manager: Mr. Chawki Ghandour

CHIAH BRANCH
Hejeij Bldg., Mouawad Entrance
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 1 277883
Fax: +961 1 277634
Manager: Mr. Amin Jaber

NABATIEH BRANCH
Hejejj Bldg., Mahmoud Fakih Str.
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 7 766222
Fax: +961 7 769005
Manager: Mr. Walid Bdeir

DORA BRANCH
Moucarri Center., Dora Highway
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 1 266665 / 7
Fax: +961 1 249052
Manager: Mrs. Rola Hajeij Ftouni

BIR HASSAN BRANCH
L Wissam Bldg., Al Safarat Str.
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 1 837612 / 857612 / 827712
Fax: +961 1 839628
Manager: Mr. Kamal Saad

SAIDA BRANCH
Dandashli Center, Elia Gross Road
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 7 723601 / 7 / 8 / 9
Fax: +961 7 723602
Manager: Mrs. Nada Khalife

MAJADEL BRANCH
Amin Ayoub Center., Majadel Highway
P.O.Box: 14-5958 Beirut 1105 2080 Lebanon
Tel: +961 7 411100 / 411211 / 411976 / 411916
Fax: +961 7
Manager: Mr. Said Hejeij
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CORRESPONDENT
BANKS
COUNTRY

BANK’S NAME

ADDRESS

France

Bank Audi saradar France - Paris

73, Avenue Des Champs- Elysees75008 Paris - France

France

BLOM Bank France - Paris

38-40 Avenue Des Champs Elysees - 75008 Paris - France

France

Al Khaliji France S.A.

49 - 51 Avenue George V - 75008 Paris – France

Spain

BANCOSABADELL

BancoSabadell Landscape Bldg - Poligon Can
Sant Joan - Sena,12 / 08190 San Cugat del Valles

Spain

BMCE Bank International

C/ Serrano, 59 - 28006 – Madrid - Spain

Qatar

Al Khaliji Commercial Bank (Al Khaliji) Qsc Asia Street 60, West Bay - P.O. BOX: 28000, DOHA - QATAR

Belgium

Byblos Bank Europe - Brussels

Rue Montoyer 10 BTE 3 - 1000 Bruxelles - Belgique

Italy

Intesa Sanpaolo SPA - Milano

Ufficio Assegni Estero - Strada 3 Palazzo B7 It
20090 Assago Milanofiori - Italy

Italy

UniCredito Italiano SPA

Viale Bodio 29B3 - 20158 Milano (MI) – ITALY

Italy

Banca UBAE SPA

Via Quintino Sella,2 - 00187 - P.O. Box: 290 - Roma – Italy

U.K.

Bank Of Beirut (UK) Ltd - London

17A Curzon Street - London W1J 5HS - United Kingdom

U.K.

BLOM Bank (France) - London Office

195 Brompton Road - London SW3 1LZ - United Kingdom

Switzerland

BCP - Banque De Commerce Et
De Placements - Geneva

Rue de la Fontaine 1, Case Postale 3069-1211
Geneve 3 – Suisse

Switzerland

BNP PARIBAS (Suisse) SA - Geneve

Quai Des Bergues 11 - Case Postale 1211 - Geneve 1 - Suisse

Germany

Commerzbank Bank AG - Frankfurt

Jurgen - Pontoplatz 1- 60301 - Frankfurt AM Main - Germany

Germany

Bank of Beirut (UK) Ltd - Frankfurt Bran. Grueneburgweg 2 – 60332 - Frankfurt – Germany

Austria

Unicredit Bank Austria

Am Hof 2 - A - 1010 Vienna - Austria

Australia

Beirut Hellenic Bank LTD

level 4, 219-223 Castlereagh Strt. - GPO Box: 4288 Sydney
NSW 2000 – Australia

U.A.E

Al Khaliji France S.A. - Dubai

Al Maktoum Street - Al Meedan Tower - P.O. BOX: 4207 Dubai - U.A.E

U.A.E

BLOM Bank (France) – Dubai

Sheikh Ahmed Ben Rached - Al Maktoum Bldg. - 124/110 Al
Maktoum Road - Deira - Dubai -U.A.E.

U.A.E

Mashreqbank psc

P.O. BOX: 1250 - Dubai - U.A.E.

Saudi Arabia Saudi Hollandi Bank – Riyadh

Al Rashid Center, Al Dahbab St - P.O.Box 1467 - Riyadh 1143.

Turkey

FINANSBANK A.S. – Istanbul

Buyukdere Cad 129 – Mecidiyekoy- 34394 ISTANBUL - TURKEY

Turkey

Turkiye Finans Katilim Bankasi - A.S.

Yakacik Mevkii Adnan Kahveci - Cad No. 139 / 81450
Yakacik / Kartal - Istanbul – Turkey

Turkey

Asya Katilim Bankasi A.S.

Kucukcsu Cad, Akcakoca Sokak No. 6 - Umraniye 34768 Istanbul – Turkey

Egypt

Bank AUDI SAE – Cairo

104 El Giza Street, Giza - P.O. Box: 757 - Cairo – Egypt

Srilanka

Bank Of Ceylon – Colombo

Head Office - 2nd Floor No. 4 Bank of Ceylon Mawatha

Iraq

Trade Bank Of Iraq

608 Al Yarmouk District - Street No. 1 Building No. 20 Bagdad - Iraq
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